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The Council of the Seventy-six Society thought it advisable

to present this reprint of this well-known though almost inac-

cessible pamphlet. The character and talents of jNIr. Galloway,

the opportunities Avhich he possessed of obtaining information,

the facts stated by him and the weight attached to them by

-^Titers in his own and later days, have made this examination

a document of some historical importance. A few notes, de-

signated by brackets, have been added b}- me. I had intended

to append others, but I refrained when I reflected that many if

not all of the members of the Society ^yere tpiite as well or

better acquainted than m3-sclf with this period of our history.

Thoiic which are given are chiefly on MS. authority; and I

liere return my thanks to those gentlemen, who have favored

me by access to their papers, particularly Mr. Thompson West-

cott. The book cited as Pennsylvania Letters is Ko. 2396 D,

Loganian Library.

It is greatly to be regretted that we have no full and truthful

history of the loyalists, of their numbers, of the measures

which they devised, promoted or prevented, of the motives

which actuated them, and consequent upon this the classes into

which they were divided, of the influence which they exercised

and its effects. Numerous isolated facts or notices arc to be

found in works relating to the Eevolution, and Mr. Sabine's

Loyalists^ and Curwcn^s Journal (edited by Mr. Ward), arc valu-

able so far as they go. But a work embracing the entire sub-

ject is yet to be written, as part of the materials for which this

reprint of ^Ir, Galloway's examination may not be without

value.
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Mercurii, 1G° die Jiinii, 1779.

COxMMITTEE on PAPERS presented by Mr. De Gin:Y,

the 19 th of March Last, piu>:uaut to Address.

Mr. MONTAGU in the Chair.

JOSEPH GALLOWAY, Esq; called in, and examined by Lord

George Gee^liixe.

Q. How long have you lived in x\merica ?

A. I have lived in America from my nati\nty to the month

of October last, about forty-eight years !

Q. In %yhat part ; and what public office Lave you held ?

A. I have lived in the province of ]\IarylanLl, in the Delaware

counties, and in the province of Pennsylvania, clne% in Phila-

delphia. My public profession was that of the law.—I practised

in all the courts of Pennsylvania, in those of the Delaware

counties, and in the supreme courts of Xew Jerse3^—I was a

member of the Assembly of Pennsylvania eighteen years

—

Speaker of the House twelve.—I was appointed by the Assem-

bly of that province to attend the American Congress, which

met the 5th of September 1774.—During the last war," under

appointment of the same Assembly, I vras one of the Commis-

sioners for disposing of the money granted to the crown, and

* ["The French and Tndmn War."]





have been several times a Commissioner to treat with the In-

dians ;
and, when Sir AVilliam Uowe took possession of the

city of Philadelphia, at his request I undertook the of&ee of

Supcrinteudant of the Police of the city of Philadelphia and its

suburbs, of the Port, and of the prohibited Articles.

Q. "When did you come over to the British army, and how

long did you continue with it?

A. I came over to the royal army in the beginning of Decem-

ber 1776, and continued with it until the evacuation of Phila-

delphia, on the ISth of June last.'^

Q. At the beginning of the present rebellion, when the inha-

bitants first took up arms, had the people, in general, independ-

ence in view ?

A. I do not believe, from the best knowledge I have of the

state of America at that time, that one-fifth of the people had

independence in view.—1 wish when I give an opinion, always

to give my reasons for it.—The progress of the spirit of inde-

* [Mr. Galloway Tvcnt to England in 1778.

He appears to have then gone to New York, and to tave remained there

until the fall. I find, among other letters to him dated New York, Nov. 1778,

which speak of his " sudden departure," one from Wm. Franklin, (who had been

Royal Governor of New Jcrsej%) dated New York, Nov. 16, 1778, from which I

make the following extract:—
" My dear Friend : I returnpd here, from my long and horrible confinement

"in Connecticut, the last day of October: but my joy was greatly damped on

•'finding that you had sailed for England. I had almost determined to follow

"you, either in this packet, or in the fleet which is to sail with the commis-

" sioners. But an unwillingness to quit the scene of action, where I think I

"might be of service if anything is intended to be done, has induced me to

"remain until I can discover what turn our affairs are likely to take." The

reasons of his departure for England are thus given in a letter from one of his

friends, dated, "New York, Nov. 22, 1778—Soon after you had embarked, Mr.

"Eden" [one of the British Commissioners] "expressed to me his surprise at

"your sudden resolution. I had no other answer to make, but, that your un-

" comfortable situation here produced such a visible effect upon your spirits,

" that, in spite of the risk, none of your friends could advise you to stay. Col.

" Balfour also took an opportunity one day of wondering that you ventured to

"go, and added, that your treatment liad been cruel beyond all example."]





pendcnce was very gradual. So early as tlie year lTo-1,* there

were men in ximerica, I may say in the towns of Boston, Xew
York, Philadelphia, and Williamsburg, who held independence

in prospect, and who were determined to seize any opportunity

that offered to promote it, by procuring additional persons to

their number.—These men, when the Stamp Act was passed,

made a stalking-horse, or screen, of the gentlemen of the law

in every part of America, to cover their designs, and to sound

the trumpet of opposition against Government; but avowed,

that their conduct was on the ground of obtaining a redress of

American grievances, and not with a design to separate the two

countries.—Upon this ground, I am confident, the gentlemen of

tbe law acted. When the Tea Act was passed, they made the

same use of the merchants who were smugglers in America, as

they had done of the lawyers before, still declaring, that the}''

meant not independence.—So late as the sitting of the Congress

in 1774, the same men, when charged witb it in Congress, and

whilst they held it tenaciously and religiously in their hearts,

they almost to a degree of profanity denied it with their tongues

—and all this was done on their knowledge, that the great bulk

of the people of North America was averse to independence.

—

If we look at the resolves of Congress, down almost to the very

period of their declaration of independence, we shall find the

same language, the same pretence of obtaining a redress of

grievances, held out to the people. And for the same reason,

at the ver}- time they declared independence, they gave out,

that it was not with a view to a total separation of the two

* IPenn'a Gazette, May 11, IToo. Gov. Robert Hunter Morris, in Lis mes-

sage (May IG) to the assembly, says: " Your Resolutions are, and have been, to

" take advant;tge of your country's danger, to aggrandize and render permanent

"your own power, and destroy that of the Crown. That it is for this purpose,

"and to promote your scheme offuture independency, you are grasping at the dispo-

"sition of the public money, and at the power of filling all the offices of Govcrn-

"ment," &c. See also Mr. Galloway to Dr. Franklin, Sparks' Franklin, \ii. 303,

for his opinions in ITtiT).]





countries, but from necessity; because, unless they dcclareJ

independence, the powers of Europe -would not trade with them,

and they were in great distress for ^vaut of a great many foreign

necessaries.—So that, from all these circumstances, I am con-

vinced, that not one fifth part of the people had independence

in view- !

* Mr. Galloway here addeJ,—"I think I may safely say, not one-tenth part

had independence in view ;"—-which opinion will appear to be founded in truth

from the following circumstances. The instructions given to the Delegates in

Congress were partly in- the following words :—To the Delegates from New Hamp-

shire,—"to restore that peace, harmony, and mutual confidence, which once

happily subsisted between the parent country and her Colonies."—To the Dele-

gates of Massachusetts Bay,—" to determine on measures for the restoration of

union and harmony between Great Britain and the Colonies, most arJcnthj desired

by all good men."—To the Delegates of Rhode Island,—"to consult upon proper

measures to establish the rights and liberties of the Colonies."—To the Delegates

of Connecticut,—" for advancing the best good of the Colonies."—The Delegates

from New York and New Jersey had no particular iiistnictions.—The Delegates

from rennsylvania were enjoined—"to consult upon the present unhappy state

of the Colonics, and to form and adopt a plan for the purposes of obtaining a

redress of American grievances, ascertaining American rights upon the most solid

and constitutional principles, and for establishing that union and harmony between

Great Britain and licr Colonies, which is so indispensably necessary to the welfare

and happiness of both."—The Delegates from the Delaware Counties were con-

fined to~"prudent and lawful measures for obtaining a redress of the general

grievances,"—The Delegates from Maryland and Virginia vrere confined to mea-

sures—" operating on the commercial connection of the Colonies with the mother-

country, and speedily to procure the return of that harmony and union, so bene-

ficial to the whole nation, and so ardently desired by all British America."—And

the instructions from North and South Carolina were to the same purport.—lu

the Letter to the People of Quebec, the Congress declare, that " their confedera-

tion has no other objects, than the perfect security of the natural and civil rights

of all the constituent members of the British government, according to their re-

spective circumstances, and the preservation of a happy and lasting connection

with Great Britain, on salutary and constitutional principles."—And in a pamphlet

published in vindication of the conduct of the Congress, intitled, "The other Side

of the Question, &c," they are obliged to make the following declaration, to refute

the charge brought against them of intending to establish independence, viz.

—

" As to the thoi;ght of establishing a republic in America,

—

hreahiny oy our con-

nection u-ith Great Britain, and becoming independent,— I consider it as the most





Q. If so large a proportion of the people of America Avere

so averse to independence, why have they sufiered their present

rulers to obtain so much power over them as to prevent any

effectual exertion in support of their principles ?

A. The Congress having prevailed upon a very small part of

the people to take up arms, under the pretence of obtaining a

redress of grievances ; and having an army composed of those

people under their command, and subject to military discipline,

they disarmed, or caused to be disarmed, all persons whom they

thought disaffected to their measures, or wished to be united to

this country, contrary to their scheme of Independence* I have

the resolves of Congress, dated 2d January, 1776, at my house

to that purposef.—They went so far as to disarm (by sending

vain, empty, shallow, and ridiculous project, that could possibly enter into the

heart of man.—I do not believe there are five hundred on the Continent, -who have

the least pretensions to common sense, who would not risque their dearest blood

to prevent such measures."—Even so late as the time of declaring the Colonies

independent, the Congress who were appointed by a very few of the people, and

these the most disaffected, found it an arduous task to accomplish it.—Their de-

bates lasted near a fortnight, and when the question was put, six Cojonies divided

against six ; the Delegates for Pennsylvania being also divided, the question re-

mained undecided.—However, one of the Members of the Colony who had warmly

opposed it, being wrought upon by Mr. xVdams's art, changed his opinion, and

upon the question the next day, it was carried in the affirmative by a single vote

only. [This account of the vote of Pennsylvania as to the Declaration, conflicts

with that given by Chief Justice McKean.

—

Christopher Marshall's Diary, Ap-

pendix.'^

* [Isaac Ogden, Counsellor at Law, New York, to Mr. Galloway, iu London.

"New Yokk, Feb. G, 1779.

"The State of New Jersey has again taken the lead in passing a law declaring

•'all persons from that Province, uuderthe protection of the king's troops, guilty

"of hijh treason, and their estates forfeited. In consequence of this law, my
"father and mjself, with many others, have had judgments entered against us,

"our estates declared forfeited, and our real estates advertised for sale on the

"first day of March.]

f Extracts from the Journals of Congress, January 2d, 1776.

" —And with respect to all such unworthy Americans as, regardless of their

duty to their Creator, their country, and their posterity, have taken part with

our oppressors, and, influenced with the hope and possession of ignominious re-





two battalions into Queen's county, in tlic province of New York,

for that purpose) a large number of the people of that district,

for no other reason but because they voted against sending a

member to the Convention of New York ; they totally, as I may

say, disfranchised them ;—they would not suffer them to trade or

be traded with;—they suffered them to be sued, but -would not

let them sue in their courts of justice; tliey would not suffer them

to pass out of their district on any account *—By these means the

•wards, strive to recommend themselves to the bounty of administration, by mis-

representing and traducing the conduct and principles of the friends of American

liberty, and opposing every measure formed for its preservation and security;

*^ Resolved, That it be recommended to the different Assemblies, Conventions,

and Committees or Councils of Safety in the United Colonies, by the most speedy

and effectual measures, to frustrate the mischievous machinations, and restrain

the -wicked practices of these men :—And it is the opinion of this Congress, that

they ought to be disarmed, and the more dangerous among them either kept in

Bafe custody, or bound with sufScient sureties to their good behaviour. And in

order that the said Assemblies, Conventions, Committees, or Councils of Safety

may be enabled, with greater ease and facility, to carry this resolution into exe-

cution,

"Resolved, That they be authorized to call to their~aid, whatever continental

troops, stationed in or near their respective colonies, may be conveniently spared

from their more immediate duty ; and the commanding officers of such troops

are hereby directed to afford the said Assemblies, Conventions, Committees or

Councils of Safety, all such assistance, in executing this resolution, as they may
require, and which, consistent with the good of the service, may bo supplied."

* Extracts from the Journals of the Congress, January 3d, 177G.

" Resolved, That all such persons in Queen's County, as voted against sendino-

Deputies to' the present Convention of New York, and named in a list of delin-

quents in Queen's County, published by the Convention of New York, be put out

of the protection of the United Colonies, and that all trade and intercourse with

them cease; that none of the inhabitants of that county be permitted to travel

or abide in any part of these United Colonies, out of their said county, -without

a certificate from the Convention or Committee of Safety of the colony of New
York, setting forth, That such inhabitant is a friend to the American cause, and

not of the number of those -who voted against sending Deputies to the said Con-

vention; and that such of the said inhabitants, as shall be found out of the said

county, without such certificate, be apprehended, and imprisoned three months.

^'Resolved, That C<.'l":icl Nathaniel Heard, of Woodbridge, in the colony of New
Jersey, taking with him live or «:ix hundred minute-men, under discreet officers.
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\vell-affectcd part of America to tins government became dis-

armed, and the arms were put into the hands of those on whom

the Congress could rely—a small part of the people. If we look

into the history of this, kingdom, so early as the great rebellion

in 1640, we shall find the very fact alluded to in the question,

actually existing in the state of this kingdom.—We shall find

the people taking up arms, in order, as it Avas said, to obtain a

redress of grievances.—We shall find a few people at that time,

who had arms in their hands, preventing the rest, numerous as

they were, from taking measures for their relief".

do march to the -westerTi part of Queen's County. And that Colonel Waterburj,

of Stanford, in the colony of Connecticut, Avith the like number of minute-men,

march to the eastern side of said county;—that they confer together, and ea-

deavour to enter the said county on one day ; that they proceed to disarm every

person in the said county, who voted against sending Deputies to the said Con-

vention, and cause them to deliver up their arms and ammunition on oath ; and

that they take and confine in safe custody, till further orders^ all such as refuse

compliance."

* After the Congress had deluded a few of the most imprudent and violent of

the people to associate in arms, and had obtained an army in the field, they im-

mediately took measures to disarm those who retained their toyalty, and gave

opposition to their design. This opposition appeared in a variety of instances
;

but they, immediately on its appearance, took measures to suppress it. If pam-

phlets were wrote, condemning their conduct, the printer who presumed to publish

them was obliged to fly his country, and his office was seized. If any gave oppo-

sition at elections to their candidates, they Avere threatened, and intimidated from

voting, imprisoned and disfranchised. If any refused their Continental money

at the nominal value, they were ordered, by a resolve of Congress, 11th January,

1776, to be treated as Enemies io their Country, and precluded from all trade or

intercourse with the inhabitants. And by another Resolve, dated January 14,

1777, they forfeited the value of the lands, goods, or commodities offered to be

sold, and the debts io payment of which it was tendered. And further to intimi-

date the Loyalists, and effectually to prevent their taking measures for their re-

lief, laws were passed by the New States, declaring *' That if any person should

be adherent to the King of Great Britain, or to the enemies of the United States,

by giving him or them aid or assistance, he should be adjudged guilty of High

Treason.*' And even, " If any person should, by writing or speaking, obstruct

or oppose the measures carried on by the United States," he should be punished

by fine and imprisonment. If any body of men rose in favour of Government,

2
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Q. After the declaration of Indepcnflence, when Lord Howe
and the General arrived at Stateu Island, did the people at large

in the country express a desire to treat with the Commissioners?

A. I believe, in the Middle Colonies, where I resided, it was

veiy generally the wish of the peoi)le to treat with the King's

Commissioners ; and I have the best reason to believe, that it

was in pursuance of the clamour of the people about the Con-

gress in Philadelphia, that they sent three Commissioners to

meet Lord and Sir William lluwc*.

and to relieve themselves from their oppression, of which there have been a

yariety of instances, they were immediately suppressed by the superior force of

the Continental Army. In this state of the people, into which they were seduced

by the arts and force of the Congress, no man of sense can be surprised at their

not being able to take effectual measures for their relief.

There have been very few revolutions in settled governments, -which have been

effected vrith the consent and approbation of the people. Mankind are not easily

drawn into a dereliction of a form of government, under whiL-h they have been

educated. It is habit and fi.xt manners that form the national attachment, and

prevail on men to prefer those governments, however arbitrary and despotic, to

others established on the best regulated freedom. It is this that prevails with a

Turk, or a Spaniard, to prefer the government of a bashaw, or the inquisitorial

power, to that freedom which he might enjoy in other countries. Hence it is

that we shall find, upon looking into history, that most revolutions have been

effected by a few artful, bold, and ambitious men, whose first step has ever been

to delude the incautious and restless few, which every society affords, into arms;

the next to disarm the rest, and tlien to establi&h their own measures and power

over the whole society, who, however desirous of making the greatest efforts for

their relief, find it impossible under these circumstances, and therefore patiently

submit to what they detest.

* The Congress were compelled by the clamours of the people to send a Com-
mittee to treat with Lord Howe; but did not mean to do it, save in appearance

only. The authority given to that Committee was only •' to hear such proposi-

tions as Lord Howe should think fit to make," and not to treat. See Resolve of

Congress, 6th of September, 177t'.. The Committee reported, that "his Lord-

ship's Commission contained no other authority of importance than that of grant-

ing pardons, with such ciocptions as the Commissioners should think proper to

make, and of declaring America, or any part of it, in the King's peace, upon

submission." If the Commissioners had further and other powers, it is greatly

to be lamented, that ti:. y did not think proper to make them known to the people,
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Q. "What proportion of the inhabitants of the revolted Colo-

nies, do you think, from principle and choice, supported the

present rebellion at any period ?

A. I don't think that one fifth part have, from principle and

choice, supported the present rebellion.—Many of those, who

have appeared in support of it, have, by a variety of means,

been compelled.—I would wish to give reasons, and not fatigue

the Committee. The last delegation of Congress, made by the

province of Pennsylvania, and the appointment of all the officers

of that state, was made by less than two hundred voters, although

there are at least thirty thousand men intitled to vote by the

laws of that province. One instance more I beg leave to give.

One of the Delegates from the province of New York* (with

whom I sat in Congress in 1774) representing a considerable

district in that province, was chosen by himself and his clerk

only, and that clerk certified to the Congress that he was unani-

mously appointed

!

Q. Was the person so chosen received by Congress ?

A. Yes, he was received on that return by the Continental

Congress, in 1774.

who vcrc so desirous of having the dispute between the two countries settled

without further bloodshed, and upon reasonable terms. It would have produced

the most beneficial effects. If the terms had been approved by the people, which

is tar from being improbable from their then dispositions, the Congress must have

accepted of them, and an end would have been put to the war. The New States

at this time were not formed, nor the Congress well established in their power

;

they were of course more dependent on the people than they have been since,

and must have complied with their demands.

* The people of King's County so much disapproved of the sending any Mem-

bers to the Congress, that although due notice was given of the time and place

of election, only two of them met: Mr. Simon Boerum appointed his friend Clerk,

and the Clerk appointed Mr. Boerum a Delegate in Congress, who was the only

Rcprescnt.ative for that large county. Other counties sent no Delegate; and even

so late as the year 177C, the inhabitants of Queen's County were disarmed and

disfranchised for refusing to send a ^lembcr to the Convention of New York ; and

in no Colony, where these Delegates were not appointed by the Assemblies, which

t?ere in four only, were they chosen by one twentieth part of the people.
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Q. From your kno'.vledge of the people of America, wheat

proportion of the inhabitants do you think at this time woukl

prefer a reconciliation with Great Britain, rather than assist in

supporting American independence ?

A. From the experience which the people have had of the

superlative and excessive tyranny of their new rulers; from the

distresses they have felt by the ravages war, and the loss of

their trade; from an aversion which thej^ have to an attachment

and connection with France, which thev are fearful will termi-

nate in the loss of their liberties, civil as well as religious; and

from the old attachment, and I believe an earnest desire to be

united with this country, I think I may venture to say, that

many more than four-fifths of the jk'OJ'Ic would prefer an union

with Great Britain, upon constitutional principles, to that of In-

dependence." ]\[any of the people, who at first took part in the

opposition to Government, and were deluded by the Congress

and its adherents, have severely felt every degree of distress.

From those feelings the}" now reason, and that reason has pre-

vailed on them to compare their old happy -situation with their

present miser}', and to prefer the former.

Q. What elYect do you think it would have in America, if the

people of that country thought an opinion prevailed here, that

they were generally h(istile to Great ]>ritain?

A. It would strike the IVieuds of tliis country with distress

and resentment; with di.-tress, at the thought that you should

conceive an idea so injurious to their princi]iles ; and vdih re-

sentment to the injustice of the idea.

Q. Ilave the inhabitants of Ameriai shown a willingness to

* [Mr. Galloway's statements wore no doul.t in part based upon the informa-

tion derived tlirough Lis curresiumdents in .Vnicrioa. Several letters addressed

to him affirm as facts what he here asserts. A letter from Isaac Ogden, of New-

Jersey, dated New York, 22d Nov. 177S, to .Mr. Giiliowav, then in London, gives

these statements in terms even fe»ronp;pr than those used by Mr. Galloway in the

text. That some of the French officers did not consider that alliance popular in

America is shown in tiparks' Fran/.lin, viii. :;'Jl.]
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take np arms in the present contest, and have the Congress found

it easy to recruit their armies ?

A. A very small part of the inhabitants of North America (I

would rather confine myself to the Middle and Southern Colo-

nies) have shoAvn a willingness to take up arms, more especially

since the declaration of Independence. The Congress have not

found it easy to recruit their armies; they have made use of every

means that art and force could suggest for that purpose.

Q. What were the methods made use of by the Congress to

compel the inhabitants to take up arms ?

A. When they found they coAld not recruit their army in the

ordinary way by recruiting, the Eebel States passed laws for

drafting their militia, compelling every person drafted to enter

into the military service, or to find a substitute, or to be im-

prisoned. Some were even pushed into the field by the bayonet

(but this was not part of the law). In Yirginia they passed a

law for exempting every two persons, who should find a recruit

from all military service. For these substitutes, and for the

recruits, there have been from 40/. to 100/. given. In the same

province, they passed another law for manumitting every servant

who would enter into the service. By these means the Congress

chiefly raised their armies, and not from the voluntar}" enlistment

of the people.

Q. Were great exertions made by the Congress and their

adherents, to bring a numerous army into the field for the cam-

paign of 1776?

A. There certainly were very great exertions ; but at that

time they did not make use of the compulsory measures, which

they were obliged to do afterwards, when the people were satis-

fied that they meant Independence.

• Q. What was the force under Washington when Sir William

Howe landed in Long Island ?

A. From the best information I could get, I believe it was

about 20,000 men. Some said more, others said less.
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Q. Was tlieir force composed cliieilj of militia, or continental

troops ?

A. More of militia tlian continental troops.—They had not

then had time to raise- by recruiting any great number of men,

nor were their States at that time perfectly formed, and therefore

could not make the exertion for raising the regular troops which

they did afterwards.

Q. Did Washington's army diminish after the battle of Long
Island—and what was his force at the end of the campaign, when

Gen. Howe was at Trenton ?

A. In consequence of the success on Long Island, New York,

the AYhite Plains, and Fort Lidependencc, Washington's army
did diminish very rapidly ; insomuch that, when Washington

crossed the Delaware, and Sir William Howe marched to Tren-

ton, his army did not consist of more than 3300 men.

Q. What do you take to have been the cause of so great

diminution of the rebel force ?

A. They were panic-struck by the successes I have mentioned,

and deserted in great numbers. I was at thatjime in Pennsyl-

vania. Many of them, who fled from the army, passed by my
house, and I conversed with them. They all appeared to me to

be in the extremcst panic.

Q. What was the dis[K)sition of the people in Pennsylvania

when Gen. Howe arrived at Trenton?

A. I had, though with the army at that time, constant com-

munication with my friends in Pennsylvania, from whom, while

on the Delaware, 1 learnt the disposition of the people; and

when last in Philadelpliia with tlic IJritish army, I made it my
particular business to enquire into tlie state of the province, at the

lime Sir William Howe was at Trenton; and I conversed Avith

no man, who did not inform me, that the peo}>le of Pennsylvania

were dispose! to submit to Government, a few of the most vio-

lent, and very few excej^teil, and tlicy were those who had acted

the most violent }«;irt. ( Iroat pains were taken to get the militia

out, but in vain ;
very few were j>revailed on to turn out.
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Q. Did they expect tlie British army in Philadelphia at that

time ?

A. They certainly did.

Q. Did the members of the Congress, and others who had

taken an active part in the rebellion, take any steps in conse-

quence of their expecting the British troops in Philadelphia ?

A. I was informed by every one I conversed with on the

subject, that the Congress and the Kebel States, in which I in-

clude all their officers, fled in a panic from Philadelphia, many

of them leaving a part of their property behind them ; and when

I was last at Philadelphia, I was informed by two of three gen-

tlemen,* that they were appointed by a number of respectable

inhabitants of the city of Philadelphia, to wait on Congress,

and to inform them, that they would go out, and certainly meet

Sir William Howe, in case he should cross the Delaware, and

implore his protection in behalf of the inhabitants ;—that they

did wait on Congress accordingly, delivered their message, and

received for answer from the Congress, that they could not blame

them, for they could no longer protect themf,

Q. Do you know anything of the disposition of the other re-

volted colonies ? Were they, from the successes of the British

army, disposed to peace ; or did they still remain sanguine in

their hopes of maintaining their Independence—I mean those

who had been the supporters of the Congress and their

measures ?

A. I had very good opportunities of knowing the state of the

* [Mr. (after-wards' Judge) Yeates, -writing from Lancaster, Oct. 3, 1777, says

(^Pennsi/lranid Letters, 259) : " Mr. Peun and .Mr. Delauey rode out to meet Gen.

Howe, and earnestly entreated him to save Philadelphia from plunder. The city,

as we learn, escaped ; but John Lawrence, near the Falls, had everything swept

a-way by the soldiers."]

f It is well known to several gentlemen now in London, that the Congress lost

all fortitude of mind, and in the greatest distress weeped at the folly of their

conduct, declared they could no longer oppose Great Britain, and that they were

ruined. They fled with the greatest precipitation from Philadelphia to Baltimore,

and many of them to their respective colonies.
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^riddle Colonies, in which I include New York, New Jersey,

Pennsylvania, Maryland, the Delaware counties, and Virginia,

Gentlemen of fortune and integrity, on whom I should rely,

came in to me at Philadelj)hia, from Norfolk in Virginia, Wil-

liamsburgh, Fredericksburgh, the distant county of Botetourt,

Fort Pitt, and from the intermediate parts of New York, New
Jersey, Maryland, and the Delaware counties, from whom I

made it my particular business to learn the state of the disposi-

tion of the people of those Colonics, as well at that time, as in

the year 177G, when Sir William Howe was at Trenton. And
I was informed by all of them, that the panic extended through

all those parts, and at that time very few indeed entertained

hopes of supporting the independence.

Q. Do you think if Sir AVilliam Howe had pursued Wash-

ington cross the Delaware, scattered the remains of his army,

and taken up his quarters at Philadelphia, that the Congress

would have been able to raise another army ?*

A. I verily believe they would not have been able to raise an

army of any consequence, not of 5000 men, so as to take the

field at the usual time of opening the campaign.—It was not

only my opinion, but that of every gentleman I conversed with

on the subject in Pennsylvania.

Q. What etYect had the success of the rebels in defeating and

making prisoners the Hessians at Trenton, on the minds of the

people ?

A. It had a very mischievous effect to the British service.

—

It removed that panic v.-itli wliieh the new states of the Middle

* [Mr. Gallowav was of opinion that taking PLilaJelphia would settle the war.

He accordingly urged Gen. Howe to proceed against it by land. His advice was

adopted; but after advancing into New Jcr>cy, Gen. Howe, despite of Mr. Gallo-

way's counsel to the contrary, determined to attack Philadelphia by way of the

Chesapeake. This fatal blunder, as he esteemed it, Mr. Galloway never forgave.

For the reasons of his advice, and his strictures on Gen. Howe's course, see

Rei^ly to the Oi^-n- ."/../,,. of Ij. Gen. Sir Mw. Howe, .j-c. Philadelphia (Pveprint),

1787. Pp. 32, &c.]
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Colonies were struck,—It enabled the Congress and the Members

of the new state of Pennsylvania to return to Philadelphia, the

most advantageous post for their residence in all America.—It

revived their spirits, and the spirits of the disaffected.—It in-

duced a number of the Militia to turn out, who otherwise would

not have done it, and contributed in a great measure to the

raising of the armv which AYashington commanded the next

campaign.

Q. After the affair at Trenton, did the Congress find it easy

to recruit their army, and what number of troops had Wash-

ington with him in the Jerseys during the winter?

A. Notwithstanding that success, the Congress did not find it

easy to recruit their army.—They were obliged to make use of

the compulsory methods I have mentioned; and yet, during the

\\anter, Washington, at Morris Town, from the best information

I could get, had not 6000 men.

Q. Did AYashington take any measures to prevent the British

army from procuring provisions in their march through the

Jerseys, and what measures?

A. In Washington's retreat through the Jerseys, he issued a

proclamation, commanding the inhabitants near that route, which

he suspected the British army would follow, to remove all their

provisions, under pain of having them destroyed ; but this pro-

clamation was not obeyed, nor did he dare to put it into execu-

tion—he did not, lest he should render the people more averse

to his measures.

Q. Bid the British army find difiiculty in procuring provi-

sions whilst on the banks of the Delaware ?

A. They did not.—I was both at Trenton and Burdenton,*

the two posts left by Sir William Howe on the Delaware.—The

people brought in their cattle and other provisions to both those

posts.—Captain Gambell, with whom I lodged, acted as Deputy

Qaarter-m.aster.—I drew, at his request, invitations to the peo-

* [Bordentown.]
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pie of the country to bring in tlieir provisions towards forming

a magazine at Burdenton ;* and altliougli be was tliere but a

little while, a very considerable magazine was formed, and great

quantity of provisions brought in, before he was obliged to

leave it by the taking of Trenton,

Q. Had General Howe taken up his winter quarters at Phila-

delphia, would he have run any risk of not being supplied with

provisions from the country ?

A. I think it impossible.—The country was full of provisions.

—General Howe's army was the superior army, and certainly

might have foraged, had the inhabitants not brought in their

provisions—of which, I think, there could be no doubt, because,

when Sir "William Howe was at Plnladelphia in 1777, the peo-

ple at that time, wlien Washington had four times the number

of troops that he had at Trenton, and when his party was con-

tinually patrolling round the lines ;—the inhabitants of Phila-

delphia, the army and navy, such as chose to eat fresh provi-

sions, were supplied by the country—from without the lines.

Q. "What number of men did the Congress vote for the cam-

paign 1777 ?

A. Congress voted for that year 88 battalions, each consist-

ing of 750 men, officers included, making in the whole 66,000

men.

Q. "What number did they actually raise for that year ?

A. At the outside, they did not bring into the field 16,000

men.—I think I am beyond the mark in that number.

Q. What was the reason that so small a number of the troops

voted were raised ? Was it that the Congress liad altered their

resolution as to the numbers to be employed, or was it because

the men were not to be had ?

A. It was not because the Congress had altered their resolu-

tion, but because the men were not to be had.—They made

every exertion as usual; but they had lost in the Canada expe-

* [Dordentown.]
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dition, at Boston, where tliey were extremely sickly, killed in

battle in the several engagement.s with the British troops, taken

prisoners, and by deaths in the military hospitals, southward of

New York, I think I may safely say, upon good enquiry, nearly

40,000 men.—The people also, at that time, were more averse

to the measures of Congress than the year before*

Q. What were the exertions made use of to bring a numer-

ous army into the field ?

A. They were, as I mentioned before, partly recruiting, draft-

ing their militia, and enlisting of servants.

Q. What proportion of the troops that composed Washing-

ton's army enlisted voluntarily ?

A. I cannot answer that question with precision.—I believe,

not a moiety of them.

Q. Were deserters from the rebel army frequent while Sir

William Howe was in Philadelphia?

A. They were frequent—almost daily.—I have known forty-

nine come in in a clay—many days from ten to fifteen.

Q. What number do you suppose came in to the army at

Philadelphia ?

A. The deserters were generally sent from head-quarters

do^vn to me for examination—from me they went to Mr. Story,

the officer appointed to administer the oath of allegiance.—He

kept a regular account of their numbers, their names, and the

places of their nativity, and I think there were upwards of 2300

qualified at his office ; and I believe, on good reason, there

might have been upwards of 7 or 800 more not qualified ; for I

often found, on seeing him in the evening, that the numbers I

had sent down to him had not gone, so that I suppose, at least,

3000 came in.

* The Rebel States, since the commencement of the rebellion, have lost in

their military hospitals, and in battle, in their naval and land service, not much

short of 100,000 men, which amount to a fifth part of the white men in America

capable of bearing arms.
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Q. Do you suppose tlie number 3'ou have mentioned to be

the whole of the desertion from the rebel ariaj ?

A, Bj no means ; I do not suppose it ;—many might have

deserted into the country to their friends—perhaps, half as many

more.

Q. What was the encouragement held out to induce deserters

to come over to us ?

A. A proclamation was issued by Sir "William Howe, offering

them a passage home to Ireland or England, their native coun-

try, and they were generally paid for their arms and accoutre-

ments.

Q, That part of the rebel army that enlisted in the service of

the Congress, were they chiefly composed of natives of America,

or were the greatest part of them Engli.-^h, Scotch, and Irish ?

A. The names and places of their nativity being taken down,

I can answer the question with precision.—There were scarcely

one-fourth natives of America;—about one-half Irish,—the other

fourth were English and Scotch."

Q. What is the character that the Provincials serving in the

British army bear ? Are they good troops, and have they be-

haved well when employed ?

A. I have understood, as soon as they are disciplined they

are very good troops, and have always behaved well ; I know

of no instance to the contrary.—That I know to be the opinion

of many of the military gentlemen.

Q. Do you know anything of the army of the Rebels in gene-

ral, how that is composed—of what country people ?

A. I judge of that by the deserters that came over.

Q. What was the sum given as bounty money to a recruit

enlisting in our p^rovincial corps ?

A. I have understood live hard dollars,

* [This statement must be taken in connection with the answer to the ques-

tion nest but one—that he judged of the birth-place of the soldiers of the rebel

army by the deserters.]
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Q. At that time, Tvhat was the sum given by the rebels for a

recruit to serve in the army of the Congress?

A. The Congress gave t's^'enty paper dollars a man, besides

eight paper dollars to the person who should procure a recruit

—It was recommended by the Congress, in order to facilitate

the recruiting for the Rebel States, to divide the states into dis-

tricts, and to appoint two or more persons to recruit in each

district.—These persons had the eight Continental dollars.

Q. AVhat was the proportion between the hard and the paper

dollars ?

A. It is impossible to say ;—they are now from fifteen or

twenty to one.

Q. At the time the army was at Philadelphia ?

A. I cannot say ; they might be three or four, or five or eight

to one'^.

Q. What have you known to be given for substitutes?

A. I have known from £40 to £100 Continental moneyf.

Q. What number of men do you suppose are now serving in

our army in America, as Provincials ?

A. I have been informed, from 6 to 7000—but I do not know

of my own knowledge.

Q. Were there any number of them embodied as militia in

any part of the country where the King's troops have been in

possession ?

A. I understood, when I was at Xew York, that there was a

body of militia formed at Long Island.—There were none in

the Jerseys, nor at Philadelphia.

Q. Were there ever any attempts made to induce the inhabit-

ants to take up arms, and defend the country against the incur-

sions of the Piebels either in Pennsylvania or the Jerseys ?

* The Continental money -was constantly fluctuating in its Talue.—When the

British army entered a province, its value was in a manner annihilated, and the

people ventured openly to reluse it

j By late accounts from gentlemen of the best credit at >'ew York, the ex-

travagant sum of £200 has been given for a substitntc.
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• A. Not as militia ;—there were corps enlisted in Philadel-

phia.

Q. What number of men were there in Philadelphia capable

of bearing arms ?

A. At the desire of Sir William Ilowe, I numbered the in-

habitants of the city of Philadelphia and the suburbs, distin-

guishing the males from the females, and taking the number of

those between 18 and GO years of age.—There were in Phila-

delphia and suburbs, ^nthin the limits, 1481 males under that

description.

Q. Might not those men have been embodied as a militia for

the defence of the city ?

A. A part of them were Quakers—about one-fourth.—These

would not take up arms on anj' account.—I know of no reason

why the others might not have been induced to take up

arms.*

Q. Were those who were found in actual rebellion, or known

to be disaffected, disarmed ?

A. In the city of Philadelphia, the inhabitants that were dis-

affected were disarmed by me, in pursuance of directions from

Sir William Ilowe.

* [Mr. Gallow:iy (Brphj. -iS, &c., cit. ante, 10), after clinrging General Howe

with selecting "the most unpopular characters" for recruiting in Phikdelphia,

says: "Such were the gentlemen appointed, and such the embarrassments under

*' which the recruiting service lal^ored in riiiladclphia ; and yet the General ac-

*' knowledges, that during his short stay in that city, where he found only 44S2

"males, from 18 to GO years of age, of whom near 1000 were Quakers, he raised

"974 rank and file, and, officers included, upward of 1100. The General says

"nothing of Mr. Galloway's troop of Philadelphia light dragoons ; it did not suit

" his purpose. That very unpopular gentleman offered to raise a regiment of

-"horse, but he could procure a warrant for raising a troop only. This corps

*'was expeditiously raised; in two months they were comjdete, and so well dis-

<«ciplined as to be reviewed by the general, and greatly applauded for their dis-

•<«ciplinc. It is known in that country, that his influence among the Loyalists

""was such, that he could have raised a regiment in nearly the same time, not-

" withstanding the embarrassments under which the recruiting service thcu

«' labored."]
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Q. Were arms put into the Lands of the well affected inhabit-

ants who had before been disarmed by the rebels ?

A. Not generally.—A number of men, to the amount of

eighty or ninety, came in from the country, where T generally

resided in the summer, and offered to serve without clothing or

pay, with an allowance of provisions;—for these I procured

from Sir "William Howe anus ;—and another body of men that

came from Jersey, the numbers I do not know, had also arms

put into their hands.

Q. Do you know of any instances of the inhabitants taking

up arms of their own accord in support of the King's authority ?

A. There was a considerable body of people of the back parts

of North Carolina (the rebels in their account called them 1600),

who took up arms in support of the King's authority, but they

were attacked and defeated by the rebels *.—Another body in

the peninsula between the Chesapcak and the Delaware (as I was

well informed, consisting of 2000), likewise took up arms in

support of the King's authority.—Another party in the same

peninsula, at another time (consisting of several hundreds), and

another in the county of Monmouth, in the Jerseys, consisting

of about 100,—And I was well informed, that some of the dis-

tricts above Albany, at the time that General Burgoyne was

advancing towards that place, took up arms, and prevented the

disaffected part of the districts from joining General Gates;f de-

* Some of these loyalists were armed with guns, others with clubs onl}'.

—

Indeed this -was the circumstance in every case where the people rose in favour

of Government ;—their arms having been generally taken from them, under the

order of the Congress or Conventions.

•}• [Rev. Charles luglis, afterwards Bishop of Nova Scotia, -writes from Ne-w

York, Dec. 12, 1778, to Mr. Galloway in London:

—

* * * "there are still many friends to the government in the country. *•*•**

"Burgoyne's army, -while on their way through New England, but particularly

"through this Province, met with the kindest treatment from the inhabitants.

"Provisions in abundance were brought to them; the inhabitants cheerfully

"gave up their beds to them, sympathized with them, offered them money, ami

" assisted many to make their escape. Several inhabitants of this Province came
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daring, that if they went ont to join General Gates, thej would

join General Burgoyne.

Q. Did you find many houses deserted as the army marched

through Jersey, or in the way from the Head of Elk to Phila-

delphia ?

A. General Howe happened to land his troops in a part of

the country more disafiected than any other part I know; I

mean Cecil county in Maryland.—At and about the Head of Elk,

a number of inhabitants did desert their houses, and carry off

their effects, but not all.—After Sir William Ilowe had advanced

into the country from thence, about eight or ten miles, as near

as I can guess, I don't believe that I saw in the whole route of

the army, from thence to Philadelphia, consisting of at least

seventy miles, above ten, or, at most, fifteen houses deserted.

—

I think not so many, but I chuse to be under the mark.—The

inhabitants were found quietly at home ; and, to me, there ap-

peared every mark of pleasure at the troops arriving in the

colony.

Q. AYhat quantity of provisions did the army carrv with it

from the Head of Elk, or from Pencaddcr, where General Grant

joined them ?

A. I can't speak to that question from my own knowledge

;

but I was informed by the oflicers of the army that there was

about fourteen days provisions landed *.

Q. How long was it from the time you left Pencadder to the

"time the General received provisions from the fleet in the Dela-

ware ?

A. I think the army marched fr<:>m Pencaddcr the 8th of

September; and, to my best recollection, the Welch Fuzileers

«*as guides to difft-rent p:irlics who linve pot in—upwards of one hundred have

"reached this ph^c^."]

* A great part of tliose provision? must have been expended by the army

before Sir William Howe left l\-i!C!tti.lir.—Ttje nriny was landed on the 2Cith of

August, and it did not n-arch from tL:a place before the bth of J^eptember.
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^vent down, for the lirst time, to the shi])s below Philadelphia,

to escort up the first provisions on the 3d of October.

Q. How did the army subsist during that time ?

A. The army in their march got large quantities of provi-

sions supplied by the inhabitants.—They drove a large quan-

tity of live stock with them to German Town, and some to

Philadelphia.—They got other provisions in the country.

—

They took a magazine of flour at Valley Forge, which I under-

stood was destroyed.

Q. While the British army lay at Philadelphia, did the in-

habitants from the neighbouring countries, without the lines,

bring in provisions, and were the markets plentifully supplied ?

A. The army lay at Philadelphia nine or ten months—there

was in that city and suburbs, within the British lines, near

25,000 inhabitants—I include the number of people that came

in, besides the real inhabitants there ; these, with the army and

navy, did not want fresh provisions of all kinds whilst they re-

mained at Philadelphia.

Q, In what state was Washington's army, in respect to pro-

visions, while the British army was thus supplied ?"-

A. Part of that time Washington's main array lay at Yalley

Forge—it was then in extreme distress for want of provisions

—the deserters who came in informed me, that they were seve-

ral days at half allowance ; and some that I examined told me,

that they had had furloughs to go out into the neighbourhood to

get provisions.—At that time, Washington received a consider-

able part of his supplies from the distant parts of Virginia and

North Carolina, brought up the Chesapeak, landed at Elk, and

from thence conveyed to his camp at Valley Forge in waggons.

The inhabitants were so averse to the measures of Congress,

that they did not supply him with provisions.

* [For a viviJ picture of the distress and privations endured by the army at

Valley Forge, see the Letter of the Committee to President of Congress, Camp at

V.iUfi/ FoT.jr, Ffb. 12, 1778. Appnnuix to AV/>/y, Sic, cit. ante. 10.]

4
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Q. Had uot you correspondence tlirough many different parts

of America, in order to furnish General llo^ve with intelligence ?

A. The General, in some measure, relied on me for intelli-

gence—he had other means of getting intelligence.—I sent out

to my friends on the Susquehannah and to the Delaware—it

was an easy thing so to do.—The inhabitants were continually

going in and coming out; and I desired that they would inform

me of every thing material that happened in those parts respect-

ing the number of troops that should be coming to join Wash-

ington.—I sent out many spies for the General on other occa-

sions.—The General had the best intelligence froiu other circum-

stances, which it would be improper for me to mention.—The

intelligence, I think, must have beeii good, whilst Washington,

in possession of that country, complained of the want of intel-

ligence, and said he v/as in an enemy's country.—I had this

from an officer under Washington.—I would add, with respect

to the disposition of the people, that persons came in to me,

from all quarters of the Middle Colonies, and fj'om their intelli-

gence I answered the former question.

Q. To v.-hat cause was it owing that Washington's army was

so badly supplied, when he had the command of the country ?

A. Washington wanted Hour and bread for his army, and grain

and forage for his horses.—lie i.-sued a j'roclumation, command-

ing all the inhabitants within seventy miles of his camp north-

ward, southward, and westward, to thresli out their grain; one-

half by the first of February, the other half by the first of March,

under pain of having it taken from them, and only paid for as

straw.—But this proclamation was not obeyed—Washington

then was obliged to send >ome of tlic men of his army to the

neighbouring farmers to thresh out their grain, which he took

and made use oi' without paying for it.

Q. Did Vv'ashington find the peoj)le ready to supply him with

carriages ?

A, He did net.—lie got few carriages but what he took by

force.—The people hid ihjir wagg<jn wheels.—He compelled





them to produce tlicm.—Tliey then broke their "^'heels and dis-

abled their waggons, -which rendered it very difficult for him to

be supplied Avith waggons.

Q. In what state was "Washington's army in respect to cloth-

ing in the campaign of 1777 ?

A. All tlie deserters who came in to us, except the Virginians,

and a very few from the northward, were in a manner naked
;

they were not clothed fit for the inclemency of the season.

—

Some of them had linen garments on, and those very ragged

and torn.—Some without shoes, very few with whole breeches

or stockings—in short, they were objects of distress when they

came down to me to be examined.—The Virginians had passed

a law, under which they authorised Commissioners to search

the house of every inhabitant for whatever spare cloth of ever}^

kind that might be suitable for the army, and to seize it for that

purpose, which was executed.—The Virginians, therefore, were

better clothed,
—

"Washington sent into the county of Bucks,

where there was a considerable quantity of cloth manufactured,

lying in their fulling-mills, and seized it for the use of his army;

but before it vras conveyed to him it was taken by an American

troop of light horse and some refugees, and conducted to Phila-

delphia.

Q. What state was the rebel army in, in respect to health ?

A. From the time the rebel army was at Boston, to the time

alluded to in the question, Washington's army was always very

sickly, occasioned, as the principal physician of his hospital in-

formed nie, by the want of salt, and the eating of fresh provi-

sions constantly without salt, together with their often wanting

clothes, and other good appointments.—At the time alluded to

in the question, "Washington had not less than ten hospitals.—

I

examined one of the physicians of those hospitals, A\-ho gave me

this information when he came to Philadelphia.

Q. What was the number of Washington's army at this time

at Valley Forge ?

A. In the latter end of February, or beginning of ^larch,
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Washington had not 4000 effective men—from a great variety

of accounts, from a number of people who lived by his camp,

and from officers of his own army.*

Q. By what means were the numbers tliere diminished after

the battle of German To^^-n ?

A. By the means I have described ; sickness and desertion.

Q. Could an army of 15,000 men subsist upon the country in

a march through the Middle Colonies ?

A. Unless it is ver}^ much altered, and that very lateh', they

certainly could, and a much greater army. The Middle Colo-

nies arc colonies of pro^^sions.—They have a plent}' of cattle

and hogs ; and they abound with grain, Indian corn, wheat,

rye, oats, and barley.

Q. What number of people do you suppose the British army

and its followers consisted of that were fed by the country in

the march from Elk Head to Philadelphia, and until it opened

its communication with the ships ?

A. The army and its followers, I imagine, consisted of about

20,000 men.—I understood so from officers of rank in the army

—I never saw the returns—but I understood that to be near

the number.

Q. What was the disposition of the Middle Colonies in the

spring of 1778, before you left Philadelphia?

A. I had good reason- to believe, from the enquiries I made

respecting the disposition of the people, that they were very

generally desirous of giving up their new rulers, and of being

united with this country.

Q. Had you reason to believe that any gentlemen of weight

* [Isaac OgJen -writea from Nevr York, March 8, 1779, to Mr. Galloway:—
" WasWngtou's army, by the expiration of the term of the 'nine-months men,'

•'is considerably diminished. He has not now in Jersey more than 3,000 men,

"and in Connecticut not so many. They talk of making new drafts from the

" militia. This is their last resort; and I am rather inclined to think the militia

"will refuse being drafted. The depreciation of tlieir money has obliged them

"to give up all thoughts of their recruitiug."]
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and influence in Pennsylvania were ready to exert tliemselves

in disarming tlie disaiiected in the several counties, and restor-

ing the counties to the peace of the King ?

A. Almost from the time that I -went to Philadelphia with

the army, to that of the evacuating of the place, gentlemen from

many of the counties in the peninsula below, indeed almost all,

and several counties in Pennsylvania, Philadelphia county,

Bucks,* Lancaster, Chester, Cumberland, and some of the coun-

ties in Jerse}', sent me assurances, that as soon as the British

army should operate against General Washington, and drive

him over the Susquehannah, or the Delav.'are, they would (could

they be supplied with the arms they wanted) exert themselves

in restoring the several districts to the peace of the crown, and

that they had no doubt of accomplishing it.—I believed this

information.—I will not say whether I gave it to Sir William

Howe ; because I don't recollect whether I made out a state of

the facts before the intended evacuation of Philadelphia ; but I

gave a paper to this amount to Sir Henry Clinton, and, I believe,

to Mr. Eden and Governor Johnstone.—But I am not certain

whether I gave it to Sir William Howe or not.

Q. When Sir William Howe arrived off the mouth of the

Delaware, were there any obstructions to his landing below the

Chevaux-de-frize, and above Bombay Hook ?

A. There was no obstruction that I know of—There were no

forts below the Chevaux-de-frize, nor any obstruction, unless

the water-guard, that lay above the Chevaux-de-frize, might be

deemed an obstruction.

Q. Were there, to your kjiowledge, any regular force in the

province of Pennsylvania at that tune ?

* [General WasLington to the Council of Safety of Pennsylvania. IleaJ-

Quarters, Bucks Co., Dec. 15, 177G. * * * "The spirit of disafi'ection, 'svhich

" appears in this country, I think deserves your serious attention. Instead of

'giving any assistance in repelling the eneray, the militia have not only refused

•' to obey your general summons and that of their commanding officers, but, I

"am told, exult at the approach of the enemy, and in our late misfortunes,"

&.C.

—

Sparki' Washinptnn, iv. 223.]
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A. There was none.—I made particular enquirj- of the in-

habitants of Phikdelphia and others.—I enqnircd of a gentle-

man Avho lived at Xewcastle, and -^-as on the spot.

Q. What was the distance between the Bite of Newcastle and

the road leading from Elk Head to Philadelphia ?

A. About seven or eight miles.

Q. Where was Mr. Washington's army at the time the King's

fleet and army were off the Delaware?

A. They were in the Jerseys.—I speak to this from a particu-

lar enquiry from the inhabitants in Pennsylvania; and, from the

best infonnation I could get of Washin.gton's army, they did

not pass the Delaware from Jersey until about the 10th or 12th

of August.

Q. When did the rebels pass through Philadelphia ?

A. I was informed that they passed tlirough about the 2od

of August?

Q. From whom had you that information?

A. I do not know it from my own knowledge, but from the

general declaration of the people who were on the spot.

Q. Ilad you any cominunieation with Sir Willfam Howe, re-

specting his going up the Chesapeak, and what communica-

tion ?

A. After my return from Hillsborough to Xcw York, I met

on the road accidentally Lord Howe. From a conversation

which passed botween us, I suspected that Sir William was

going with his fleet and army round to the Chesapeak. I fore-

saw the difficulties he would meet with, and was distressed at it.

Instead of pursuing ray journey to the city, I returned to my
friend's, where I had lodged the night before. Mr. Foxcroft,

Deputy Post Master Genenll of Xorth America.* I told him,

* [Mr. Foxcroft appcar.-s to bavo had clinrge of Mr. Gallo-waj-'s slaves. In

his letter from Belleview, N. J., YcK IIS, 1770, ho gives an account of the negro

men and a svoman. He also mentions '• ver'.al me'sai^es'' "from violent rebels

"to jrentlcmcn iu i\v.< tovn. lecrdiip: :in iiiltrview with t'lcm at ElizabctlitoAvu,

*' wishing, of all things in the world, a restoration of tranquillity."]
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that I apprcliended Sir AVilliam Howe was going round to the

Chesapeak. I asked him for pen, ink and paper. I pat down

in writing those difficulties, which I thouglit Sir William Howe
would meet with, and which he ought to be apprised of. When
finished, I shewed them to Mr. Foxcroft, and lie approved of

them, and I resolved to send them to Sir William Howe. I

carried them to Capt. Montresor, through whom I often commu-

nicated with the General. Capt. Montresor, on perusal, approved

them also, and said, he would cheerfully deliver them to the

General. The difficulties I pointed out were in substance as

follows.—The distance of the way round from the Hook to the

head of the Elk ; the constant prevalence of the southerly winds

along the coast at that season of the year. In order to induce

Sir William Howe to prefer going up the Delaware to the

Chesapeak, I mentioned, that the distance from Newcastle to

Lancaster, where I apprehended he might be going after Wash-

ington's magazines, was nearly about the same, as the distance

from the head of the Elk—that the country was more open, and

the roads better; and that, supposing his object was the maga-

zines at Lancaster, his going up the Delaware would be an ex-

cellent cover to his designs, as the enemy would naturally con-

clude that Philadelphia was his object, and not those magazines.

These, to the best of my recollection, were the difficulties and

facts contained in the paper that I delivered to Capt. Montresor.

If I am mistaken in any particular, it is from want of recollec-

tion, and Sir William Howe can set me right, as he had the

paper. About eight or ten days after I had delivered the paper,

Sir William Howe sent for me by Capt. Montresor, and asked

me, how I knew he was going to the Chesapeak ? I answered,

I did not positively know it. He said, I did, from the paper

before him. I replied, the paper was not positive, but con-

ditional, supposing he intended to go there. He then asked,

Whether my objections rc^ted on the difficulties of the naviga-

tion of the Chesapeak? I replied, they did not. I was a very
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little while with Sir William Howe, and I don't recollect any

thing else that passed.

Q. "When it was knoAvn in Philadelphia, that that city was to

be evacuated, what eflcct had it on the minds of the inhabitants ?

A. The inhabitants of that city, a very few excepted, were

faithful and loyal subjects of the C^o^nl ; many of them had

taken a very decisive and active part on the behalf of the Crown

—a measure of that kind could not fail, therefore, to strike them

with great dismay and distress.-

Q. Did you, or anj- other person, to your knowledge, apply

to the Commander in Chief, upon this occasion, for advice, re-

specting the measures proper to be pursued for your personal

safety, and what was the advice given ?

A. Sir William Erskine came down to me from Sir William

Howe and Sir Henry Clinton, to give n\e notice, as superintend-

ant of the city, that it was to be evacuated. I sent for the

magistrates that were acting under me, imniediatel}^, to consult

them respecting our own safety, and that of the inhabitants,

who had taken a decisive part on behalf of tlie Crown. In our

conversation, !Mr. Schoemakerf repeated what he had told me a

* [In a letter, dated New York, January lltli, 1770, addressed to 'Sir. Galloway,

iu London, signed D. S., which is suppusod to stand for David Sproat, who, ac-

cording to his advei-tisements in *' the Tennsylvania Ledger" and "the Royal

Gazette," was " Vendue-Mabter"' during the occupation of Philadelphia by the

British, the " evacuation" is thus hcwailod : " Great schemes have been on foot

to purchase the goods and merchandise we have on hand before we depart, the

" sweets of which some of them felt at our leaving Philadelphia. Unhappy
" evacuation ! It confirmed the people in au opinion, which artful men had long

"been endeavoring to estubli.^h. It supporttd the rebellion, and brought misery

" and distress on the best friends of government. A scene, however well painted,

" bears but a faint rcsemLlancc to wh;vt, I pray God, we may never see again:

—

" ' Therefore the Lurd God sent him fi)rth from the garden of Eden to till the

"ground." Happy state when compared with ours; for we repaired on board

" of ships, and were obliged to till the .'•ea with but a poor prospect of a crop to

" follow. Will the day never again dawn ?'
J

f [Samuel Shoemaker was an ciiiiiicnt morthant of Philadelphia, born in Ger-

mantown, in the year 172}. He wa- an alderman of tl;e city, and several times
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few days before, tLat Sir 'William Howe had advised him to go
over to WashiDgton, and make his peace. It was natural for

lis to consult together upon the consequences of that advice,

and we all resolved not to follow it. However, we thought it

necessary, as our safety was still unprovided for (our lives being
attainted, and all that we had in the Avorld confiscated), still to
know what was to become of us. The magistrates, therefore,

requested I would wait on Sir William Howe on the occasion,'

which I accordingly did immediately, A\-hen he gave us the same
advice. I started a difficulty respecting the practicability of it

;

upon which he advised us to apply to Sir Henry Clinton to pro-
cure a flag to go out for that purpose. I returned to the magis-
trates, and reported what had passed ; and we then seribu°sly

debated and considered among ourselves, whether \ye should
follow the advice. One of the magistrates did not say so much
on the subject as the two others did, which induced me to put
the question singly, whether we should follow the advice or not.

I put it to the magistrate who had said little first. His answer
was immediately in the negative, and we unanimously agreed

feru-
Mayor. At the commencement of the Revolution, he adhered to the Royal Gov*
ment, of which he was a zealous supporter. Eecoming obnoxious to the Repub-
lican party, he left the city, and went to New York, from which place he saiU-d

to England, where he was treated with great distinction, was much consulted by
the Government, and by the Board of Commissioners, which was established for

the purpose of awarding compL-nsation to the American loyalists. In his first

interview with the King, the King enquired: " How is it, Mr. Shoemaker, that

Pennsylvania is so much in advance of the other provinces, though many of them
were settled before it?" " May it please your Majesty," responded the Quaker,
with great courtliness, "I presume it is because so many of the inhabitants are

Germans, or of German descent," bowing, at the same time, to the Queen, who
was a German by birth. The King shewed by his manner that he was gratilied

by the comiilimcnt paid to his wife, and said :
'• No, Mr. Shoemaker, it is, no

doubt, because they are Quakers," " thus." as Mr. Shoemaker subsequently re-

marked, "fully returning the compliment." Mr. Shoemaker's estate was con-

fiscated after the war. for which he was amply compensated by the Britisli Govern-
ment. He died in Philadelphia, October 10, 1«U0, in the seveoty-sixth year of
his age.— .]/,-. 7/,;,,^ J'uiui^/lon's J/SS.]

5
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not to follow it. We however resolved, before we parted, to

coramunicute our circumstances to Sir Ileury Clinton, with the

advice that was given to us, as we knew upon him, in a few

days, the command of the army would devolve. I wrote a

letter to Sir Henry Clinton, requesting an interview upon a

matter which highly concerned the magistrates and citizens of

Philadelphia. 2s ot receiving an answer from Sir Ilenry Clin-

ton so soon as I expected, and Col. Innis, a confidential friend

of Sir Ilenry Clinton, calling on me, I communicated the whole

that I have mentioned to him, and rerjuested he would speak to

Sir Henry Clinton on the occasion. A good deal passed between

us. He seemed alarmed, that we sliould be ad\ased to go over

to the enemy, and pointed out the consequences that would

attend it, and immediately offered to go to Sir Henry Clinton,

and bring us an answer relative to our personal safety. He

soon returned and informed me, that what he should say I was

not to understand as official from Sir Henry Clinton (he did not

say so—but I understood, at the time, it was because the com-

mand had not then devolved on Sir Henry Clinton), and in-

formed me, that Sir Henry said, he could not have granted a

flag on such an occasion, had we requested it—that the game

was not up—that the war was not over, but would still be car-

ried on vigorously, and desired that we would not entertain a

thought of going over to the enemy.

Q. K the magistrates of Philadelphia had gone over to the

Rebels, what effect would that mt-a-sure have had in America?

A. If the magistrates of I'hiladelphia had gone over to the

Hebcls under that advice, it would certainly have had every

pernicious effect.—The people in general woidd have believed

what the Ptebels at that time industriously propagated,—that

the contest was given up, and that America was to be evacuated.

—They would, or at least great numbers of them would, have

taken the oaths vf^ allegiance, and abjuration to the States, and

become their perfect subjects.
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Q. Did yon attend the army from Bmnswic to Trenton in

1776 ?

A. Yes.

Q. At what time did the army march from Brunswic, and at

•what time did it arrive at Prince Town that day ?

A. I lodged with General A^aughan the evening before, and

understood the orders were to march at fonr o'clock.—The army

did march very early ; they arrived at Prince-Town about four

o'clock in the afternoon.

Q. "Where was Washington and his army at that time ?

A. The main body of his army was at Trenton, a part at

Prince-Town, and I believe a few advanced nearer to Brunswic,

to observe the motions of the British army.

Q. Had you information, which you had reason to believe,

with regard to the time of "Washington's leaving Prince-Town

that day ?

A. I was informed by several of the inhabitants of Prince-

Town, and particularly by the gentleman -w-ith whom I lodged,

that "Washington had left it about an hour before the van of the

British army arrived.

Q. At what hour the next morning did the army march from

Prince-Town to Trenton, and at what time did the army arrive

at Trenton ?

A. To the best of my recollection, the army marched between

eight and nine o'clock in the morning, and arrived at Trenton

about three in the afternoon.

Q. Do you know what was General Washington's force at

that time, and by what means do you know it ?

A. I have said before, that General Washington's force con-

sisted at that time of about 8300 men.—A number of the in-

habitants of Trenton madt3 his force less ; but Major Barnes, of

the Provincial corps, who lived in Trenton at the time, and at

whose house "Washington took up his head-quarters, informed

me, that by a return made to Washington the day before he

passed the Delaware, his whole army, excepting Lord Sterling's
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brigade, amounted to 2900 men ;—and Lord Sterling's brigade

did not, at that time, amount to 400.

Q. Is it jour opinion, that it was possible or not, to have

overtaken General Wasliington's army before it had crossed the

Delaware ?

A. I am no military man, and can speak onl}' to facts, which,

as far as they go, I am ready to answer.—Had Sir "William Howe

marched from Prince Town at four o'clock in the morning as

he did from Bruuswic, or at three o'clock, as he did from Phila-

delphia, to White Marsh, he certainly would have been at Tren-

ton four or five hours sooner than he was.
—

"Washington's last

boat, in which he carried over his army, had not reached the

opposite shore, when the van of the British army arrived at

Trenton.

Q. How far is it from Prince Town to Trenton ?

A. Twelve measured miles.

WitJidreuj.





Ve?ieris, 18° die Junli, 1779.

COiMMITTEE on PAPERS presented by Mr. De Gret^

the 19th of March last, pursuant to Address.

Mr. MONTAGU in the Chair.

Joseph Galloway, E?q ; called in, and examined by several

Members of the Commttee.

Q. WnEinER, in your opinion, the river Delaware might

have been crossed by Sir AVilliara Howe when he came down

to Trenton with the army, and your reasons for that opinion ?

A, There does not appear to me to have been any difficulties

to have prevented the British army from passing the Delaware

in December 1776, when Sir William Howe was at Trenton.—

I

have said, that Washington's force was but small. The river

Delaware, in and about Trenton, is from 3 to -iOO yards wide.

—At a place called Bond's Ferry, about two miles below Tren-

ton, I think the distance across the river is very near 300 yards.

•—The ground at the place I have mentioned (Bond's Ferry) is

high, and perfectly commands the shore on the opposite side,

far beyond cannon shot.—Under these circumstances, I know of

no difficulty except that of the want of boats or pontoons.—

I

had a conversation with Captain Montresor.

Ohjedion being taken to JI>\ Galloway's giving an account of this

conversation^ he v:as ordered to icitJidraw.

Again called in,

Q. Had you any occasion to examine jjarticularly into the

practicable nieans of passing the river?
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A. The conversation I intended to have mentioned, was only

as introductory to a most material fact, which was, that, at Cap-

tain Montresor's request, I did enquire, whether there were any

materials in or about Trenton, witli which pontoons, boats, or

rafts might be constructed ; and I found 48,000 feet of boards,

a quantity of iron, and there was timber enough about Trenton

for that purpose.

Q. Did you find boats or schoughs ?

A. I did ;—there were two boats in a mill pond, at a little

distance from Trenton.—I did not see them, but they were

reported to me to be there.

Q. How many men would those boats carry at a time ?

A. I understood from fifty to sixty men a-piece.

Q. In what time, from the information you got, did you un-

derstand that a bridge might be made to pass the river ?

A. I am not competent to answer that question from my own
judgment, and I made no enquiry respecting it.

Withdrew.

Called in again.

Q. Did you see the boards you mentioned ?

A. I did not.

Q. When the British troops took possession of the Jerseys,

were any proclamations issued, or measures taken to conciliate

the minds of the people to the British Government ?

A. There was a proclamation; I understood it was issued

when Sir William Howe was in the Jerseys ; I met "snth him

at Brunswic. I really cannot be certain as to the date.—By
this proclamation, a pardon was olTerod to all such of the in-

habitants as should come in and take the oath of allegiance to

the crown, with, a promise or engagement to protect them in

their persons and properties.

Q. In what manner were the inhabitants treated by the

British troops after they received their protections ?

A. !^[any of them, by far too many, were plundered of their

property while the}' had their written protections in their hands.
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or in their houses.—Friends to Governincnt, and those disaf-

fected to Government, shared the same fate in a great variety

of instances.

Withdrew.

Again called in.

Q. Was that L^st answer given from 3-our own knowledge?

A. From my own knowledge.

Q. By whom were such inhabitants plundered after they had

received their protections ?

A. By the British and Hes>ian troops.

Q. To your own knowledge?

A. I should be happy if the Committee would let me explain

myself.—It may be expected, that I ought not to answer, to my

own knowledge, unless I saw the fact committed.—That I did

not, and yet I can assign such reasons, I think, as will justify

me in saying—to my own knowledge.—The people plundered

have come to me recently from the fact, with tears in their eyes,

complaining that they were plundered of every thing they had

in the world, even of the pot to boil their victuals.—I myself

drew a memorial to Sir William Howe, in behalf of a friend to

Government, who had been plundered of many thousands in

Madeira wine ;—that memorial was presented,—the determina-

tion of it was referred to General Robertson, whether the person

should be paid for the wine or not (the person was Mr. Sharp

of New York). This was settled, and I have reason to know

of many other memorials that were presented on the like occa-

sions.—I have seen them before they were presented ;—and as

to the fact of the plunder, many ailiduvits were taken on that

occasion by the enemies to Government, which affidavits were

published throughout all America *.

Withdreiv.

* Whoever -wishes to be fully satisfied in respect to the imliicriiuinute plun«Jer

and wanton destruction of property committed by the British soldiery, in the

county of West Chester, in the province of New York, and in the towns of Newark,

Elizabeth-Town, Woodbridge, Brunswic, Kingston, Prince Town, and Trenton in
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Again called in.

Q. Was you with the army ^Yllen tliey marched from Bruns-

wic to Hillsborough ?

A. I was.

Q. Do you know of any roads leading round Mr. Washing-

ton's camp at Middle Brook, on the North, by which Sir Wil-

liam Howe might have passed round between him and the

Delaware and his magazines ?

A. I never passed the road from Brunswic to ]\riddle Brook -.

Q. Where were Washington's magazines at the time you

were in the camp at Middle Brook "/

A. His artillery magazine was at Norrington, about fifteen

miles from Philadelphia.—The magazines of provisions were at

Lancaster, Manheim, Carlisle, Lebanon, and I believe some at

Eeading—all in Pennsylvania.—I speak from accounts brought

to me at Xew York, wdiich I gave to Captain Montrcsor.

New Jersey, are referred to the Penasylvania Eveuing Posts of the 2-ltb and 29th

of April, 1st, 3d, and 10th of May, 1777. [Many other proofs besides those

Lere cited by Mr. GiUloway might, if necessary, be rucntioneJ. The cruelties

perpeti-nted by the British armies, however sad to the individuals who suffered,

operated most fortunately for the republican cause. They brought home to every

man, even the humblest or the most loyal, the consciousness that there was an

enemy in the land; .an enemy which respected nothing, spared nothing. Their

efTectis thus described by Mr. Isaac Ogden (one of whose name, if not of his family,

was barbarously treated, Report of Com. to Congress, April IS, 1777, Pennsylvania

PacJcet, April 29, 1777) to Mr. Galloway, in a letter dated New York, Nov. 22,

1778. Speaking of the foraging party to Newbridge, he says: ''Theeflect of it has

"been, that the wanton and indiscriminate depredation and waste committed

"have made many persons rebels, and deprived New York of a very considerable

" resource. The accidental coup-de-main, by which Baylor's regiment of dragoons

"was cut up, in some measure atoned for the blunder."]

* The chart of New Jersey will shew, that there is a road leading from

Brunswic to Bound Brook, and from thence to Easton; and it is known, that in

that part of the country, which is full of plantations, there are many roads lead-

ing round Washington's camp on his right and left, in which there can be no doubt

but Sir William IK.we might have pn>?ed with his army even to the Delaware.

With these facts lie could not be unacquainted, as riie Surveyor of the district in

which Washington was eucah.pcd, was at the liiiK- with the British army.
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Q. Could General Wasliington, in jouv opinion, in case Gene-

ral Howe had crossed the Delaware, have remained Id the Jer-

seys when his magazines were in the places you have men-
tioned ?

A. He certainly might if he had chose it, and had determined

to abide the consequences which might have attended the loss

of his magazines ".

Q. Do you apprehend he might have maintained his army
with provisions and stores without those magazines ?

A. Not in an}^ short time.

Q. Were there any preparations made by General Howe for

crossing the Delaware at or before his march to Hillsborough,

and what were the^" ?

A. There Avere a number of pontoons built at New York ; a

number of flat-bottomed boats prepared and put upon carriages;

—these were carried to Brunswic
; taken out of the water and

put upon carriages at Brunswic—they were not carried to Hills-

borough, but left at Brunswic.

Q. Do you know whether the Delaware is fordable above or

below Trenton ?

A. In the summer, it is fordable in a great variety of places.

—In June, July, August, September, and October, the passage

over is interrupted occasionally only by heavy rains.—The

freshes in the Delaware generally subside in four or live days

after the rain ceases.

* Had Washington remained in the Jersejs, and pennitced Sir William IIowc

to have passed into Pennsylvania without giving him battle, his magazines of mili-

tary stores and provisions must have been lost, if Sir William Howe had chosen

to have tnkcn them.—Philadelphia must have fallen into his hands, and the whole

province submitted.— It is therefore not to be presumed, that Washington would

have been so destitute of regard for his own interest, as not to have cither fought

the British army in Jersey, or have left his strong post, as it is called, and passed

over the Delaware with a view to the defence of objects upon which the force and

existence of his army so materially depended. For these lie fought at Brandy-

Wine in August, and for these he must have fought in New Jersey or Pcnnsyl-

vunia in June, or lost them.
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Q. AVcrc there any particular circiimstauccs to make you

suppose it was not forclablc at that tune?

A. Whether the rain, while we were at Hillsborough, made

it unfordable or not, I cannot tell.

Q. Have you had your pardon ?

A. I have not.

Here the loitncss v:as intcmqited^ and onJered to tdthdraiv.

Again called in, and proceeds in his ansicer to the last question.

A. I did. not apprehend, and I am perfectly conscious in my
own mind, that I have never done anything that requires a

pardon. I beg that I may have an opportunity, in a brief man-

ner, of explaining my conduct in Congress—and then I will

proceed to shew that a pardon was denied, as unnecessary.—

I

went into Congress at the earnest solicitation of the Assembly

of Pennsylvania.—I refused to go, unless they would send with

me, as the rule of my conduct, instructions agreeable to my own

mind ;—they suffered mo to draw up those instructions ;—they

were briefly, to state the rights and the grievances of America,

and to propose a plan of amicable accommodation of the differ-

ences between Great Britain and the Colonies, aud of a per-

petual union ; I speak now from the records of Peniisylvania,

where these instructions are.-^ Upon this ground, aud with a

* [These instructions, as tbey appear iu the Pcinisylvania Packet of Sept. 5,

1774, are as follows :
—

^^Instructions of the Asscmhhj of I'eJimi/hania to the Delegates fur the said I'roiiiice,

^'^ appointed to meet the General Comjrcss.

" Gentlemen : The trust reposed in j-ou is of such a nature, and the mode of

"executing it may be so diversified in the course of your deliberations, that it is

"scarcely possible to give you particular instructions respecting it. We s!\all

"therefore only in general direct, that you are to meet in Congress the Commit-

"tees of the several liritish Colonies, at such time and place as shall be generally

"agreed on, to consult together ou the present critical and alarming situation

" and state of the Colonies, aud that you, -with them, exert your utmost ende;u

" vors to form and adopt a plan, which shall afford the best prospect of obtaining

"a redress of American grievances, ascertaining American rights, and establish-

"ing that union and hnrniony v^hich is most essential to the welfare and haiipi-

"ness of both countries; aud in doing tliis, you arc strictly charged to avoid





heart full of loyalty to my Sovercigu, I \\'cnt into Congress,

—

and from tliat loyalty I never deviated in the least. I proposed

"everytLing indecent anJ disrespectful to tLe Mother State; you are also

"directed to make report of your proceedings to the next assembly.

"Signed by order of the House.

"JosEiii Galloavay, Speaker.

"PHiLAU]:LrHiA, July 13, 1771."

These instructions are mentioned, in part {anfe, p. 6), in Mr. Galloway's

note; but it seemed advisable to print them in full, as bearing on the personal

history of one of -whom it may be said, that "he -was the best abused man"

amongst the loyalists. It is but just, that in jndging of any one's course, we

should give due weight to the education and considerations which determined

it; and, however much we may condemn the line of action adopted by him, yet

common honesty and Christian charity alike require that a proper allowance

should be made for the circumstances which led him to pursue it.

JMr. Galloway was born in Kent County, ^laryland, in 1731. His fathei-, Mr.

Peter Galloway, spruiig, I believe, from a highly respectable family, which had

settled in that province prior to the year 1G40 {Dr. C. Iforriis MSS.), appears, from

the advertisements concerning the settlement of his estate, to have been a man of

large landed property. Thus, by his birth, he was subjected to the aristocratical

influences which even yet linger among the wealthy planters of certain sec-

tions of that State. He studied law, most probably in Philadelphia, for his father

died whilst he was very young; at all events, he settled here upon coming to the

bar. In no city of our country was professional success, at that day, attended

with more lucrative rewards. Here, too, were others, like himself of Maryland

lineage, whose names became justly conspicuous in Pennsylvania history. Doubt-

less, the refined and attractive character of its society also had an influence in

determining his choice of a home. He applied himself assiduously, and his

talents and industry speedily obtained for him high position, both professional

and political: in proof of which, I may mention that, in 17G9, he was one of

tlie three members of the bar called to testify before the Supreme Court as to

"the custom in the Province in taking acknowledgments of deeds by married

women." (J/5, rennsylvania Reports, 145, Law. Assoc. Lib. ; a note of the rulings

in the case is to be found Dallas, i. 22, Wharton's ed.): and in a letter dated

Sept. 19, 17CC (I'tnns'jhania Letters, C-1), which is the earliest mention of him as

a politician that I have met with, 1m? is, when only about five-and-twenty, spoken

of as a prominent man. His political career ii ninratcd by himself in the open-

ing of this Evamination. His course in the .Assembly, as the leader of the

anti-proprietary or provincial party, is too well known to require a word here

;

but it must be borne in mind, that the oVjcct for which that party so strenuously
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a plan of accommodation in the Congress, agreeable to mj in-

structions ;—some of the best men, and men of the best fortunes,

coDtended was the resumption by tbc crown of n government, which had been

so improvidently granted, and which had, as they Lclieved, worked injuriously

to the interests of the province.

It must also not be forgotten, that " the French and Indian wars" had brought

desolation and slaughter upon the western borders of the colonies, but on none

more than Tenusylvania. In that struggle, Great Britain had aided with both

men and money. The recollection of that period was particularly prominent in

Mr. Galloway's mind, owing, perhaps, to the messages which, as Speaker, he

had presented to the Governor on the subject. This alliance of the ancient ene-

mies of the English race with a savage foe might again occur, and he dreaded

its results to unassisted, perhaps disunited, or even hostile. States.

Again, the charter of Pennsylvania had expressly reserved to the king and

Parliament the right of taxation by duties on commerce. (Hazard's Antiah,

494, &c. Charter.) It thus became a question whether resistance there could be

justified, until it was placed, by resumption of the charter, on the same footing

as its sister colonies. That it could iiot, was the opinion which Mr. Galloway

undoubtingly held.

Lastly, even had Mr. Galloway entertained other views than those which he

did, he entered Congress under instructions "which plainly pointed out the course

which he was to pursue; and however much politicians may now-a-days debate

the right of constituents to instruct a delegate already elected, yet few, we presume,

will doubt concerning the duty of a representative chosen fur the ezj^rc^s purpose

of maintaining a particular policy.

In view of these facts, it is not very clear how Mr. Galloway could have acted,

in Congress, otherwise than he did ; nor how it rendered him obnoxious to the

censure of having "changed sides, not from conviction nor from justifiable mo-

"tives." "A man of so great aptitude for the administration of afi'airs, of so

"mature a judgment, of so much political experience, of so penetrating sagacity,

"of powers of mind that led his fellows in masses, can hardly stand excused

"upon the most charitable view of his conduct that is possible." [Saline's

Loyalists, s. v. Galloway.)

But, besides these facts, we must further consider that Mr. Galloway, in com-

mon with many others "of undoubted patriotism," believed that there was a

constitutional mode of redress. For that he was willing to go as far as any

man, either in blood or fortune, thort of wliat he believed to be treason. {J.

Adams, ii. 388.) That last step his inclinations, his convictions, his "instruc-

tions," his obligations, the laws, which he revered and professed to expound,

forbade him to take. He dearly loved the laud of his birth, but he also dearly
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espoused the plan, and drcAV with me.—It was proposed and

debated a whole day, and carried upon the cpiestion, six Colo-

nies to five, that it should be resumed and further considered.'-"

—

I have in my hand the introductory resolve of Congress in m}^

own writing, which identicall}- was delivered by me in Congress.

—It is indorsed in the hand of Charles Thompson, the then and

present Secretary to the Congress.f—The introductory resolve is

but short, and I Avill, therefore, for the information of the Com-

mittee, and in vindication of my own reputation, beg leave to

read it.

loved the land of his fathers, and Tvas un\dlling to aid in the dismemberment of .

that great empire which, if it remained intact, vrould, as he believed, hold the

destinies of the world in its keeping.

However much Mr. Galloway's course mav be criticized or blamed, one thing

at least is certain; that he followed it with sincerity, and with ruinous loss to

himself. He forfeited the estates which he had acquii-ed by his toil and skill, he

gave up the emoluments of a lucrative practice, he surrendered high political

position and prospects, himself and family became exiles, and, awar from all

the much loved and cherished associations of his youth and his manhood, ended

his days in obscurity and amongst strangers. In a letter written by his daugh-

ter, and mentioned elsewhere in these pages, I find the following lines quoted

as applicable to her father's fate:

—

"Though many an epitnph of thine -tvas known

"To grace the cold, comniemorating stone,

" Thine own remains, in some neglected spot,

"Now lie unsung, u;)hccJeii, and forgot."

Mr. Galloway died in England, in September, 1S03.]

* [Gordon's History, i. 409.]

J ["Among Mr. Duane's papers is found a copy of Dr. Franklin's plan of a

union of the colonies, proposed in 1754, with an indorsement that it was offered

to the Congress on the 2Sth of September, by Mr. Galloway, seconded and sup-

ported by the New York members, but finally rejected and ordered to be left

out of the minutes." Memoir of James Duane, of New York.

—

DoaimeniaTy

History of Xeic York, iv. 1072.

It was not precisely "Dr. Franklin's plan," but differed from it in several par-

ticulars. "Franklin's plan," together with the minutes of tlie Albany Congress,

are to be found in the Doct. Hist. Xew York, ii. 5G4, &c.3
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He read it as follows :

^^ Indorsed, "Mr. J. Galloway's Motion" 2Stli Sept. 177-1."

" Resolved,

" That this Congress ^^'ill apply to his Majesty for a redress

of grievances, under whicli his faithful subjects in America

labour, and assure him, that the Colonies hold in abhorrence the

idea of being considered independent communities on the British

Government, and most ardently desire the establishment of a

political union, not only among themselves, but with the Mother

State, upon those principles of safety and freedom "which are

essential in the constitution of all free Governments, and par-

ticularly that of the British Legislature. And as the Colonies,

from their local circumstances, cannot be represented in the

Parliament of Great Britain, they will humbly propose to his

Majesty and his tv.'o Ilouses of Parliament the following Plan,

under which tlie strewjih of the icJiok tmpirc may he drawn together

on any emergency, the inten-its of IntJi countries advanced, and the

rights and liberties of America secured^

I beg further to observe, beloro I reail the Plau,''^ that my great

* ["Among all the difficulties in the way of effective and united action in

'* 1774—and they -were.far {rrcatcr tliau the members of Congress were, at the

"time, for very obvious rca^jus. v.illiiig to admit, or than tlie people of the pre-

"sent generatiou, who judge ouly from results, arc apt to imagine—no more

"alarming one happened than the 'plan of a proposed union between Great

" Britain and the Colonies,' presented on the '2iith of September, by Mr. Joseph

" Galloway, a delegate from rennsylvunia. Himself a gentleman of abilities, of

"property, and of extensive iutlueucc on tlie popular side, he seems to have

"accepted a seat in this Congress rather for the purpose of 'sitting on the skirts

" of the American advocate?,' th:ui of jimmoting any valuable end. He prefaced

'his formidable motion with a jpcech, of which the outline is now to be given.

"How near he came to succcs.-, may be judged, not only from his own account

"which he afterwards gave in a pamphlet—but still more from the extreme

" earnestness of his opponent? to cxpuiige from the record all traces of the pro-

"ccedings, and to discredit hi^ st;»teimnts as iIk'Sc of a renegade and traitor.

" Nevertheless, there is no pood reason for loubting his substantial accuracy."

—

Works of John A'htris. ii. o^7 (nvte). It .-h.-uld b.- obsirved that Mr. Gallowaj-'s

statement {ante, p. -IJ', relieves him from this charge of entering Congress with

a sinister purj-i.-o.]
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object Avas to prevail on the Congress to take the ground of

accommodation, and to avoid that of arms ; and therefore, in

forming the pLan, I omitted several things that I thought might

obstruct their taking that ground. I do not, therefore, propose

it as a perfect plan, nor altogether as a plan of my judgment.

Withdrew.

Called in again, and proceeds.

The reason why the plan was not altogether to my judgment

was, because I thought it would admit of some very material

additions, and not that I disapproved of the plan as far as it went.

Beads tlte Plan, as folloics

:

" ^1 PLAX of a proposed UXIOX helicecn Great Britain and

the Colonies of Nev/ Hamj^shire, the Massachuset's Bay, Ehode

Island, Connecticut, Xew York, Xew Jersey, Pennsylvania,

Mar3dand, tlie three Loictr Counties on the Delaware, Vii"-

ginia, ISTortli Carolina, South Carolina, and Georgia.

" THAT a British and American legislature, for regulating

the administration of the general aflairs of America, be pro-

posed and established in America, including all the said Colo-

nies, within and under which government each Colony shall

retain its present constitution, and powers of regulating and

governing its own internal police in all cases whatever.

"That the said Government be administered by a President

General to be appointed bj'thc King, and a Grand Council to be

chosen by the Eepreseutatives of the people of the several Colo-

nics in their respective Assemblies, once in every three years.

" That the several Assemblies shall chuse [Members for the

Grand Council in the follow i;ig proportions, viz.

XcAV Hampshire, Connecticut,

^[assachu<et's Bay, New York,

Pihode Island, New Jorscv,
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Pennsylvania, Xorth Carolina,

Delaware Counties, Soutli Carolina,

^lar^^land, Georgia.

Yirgiuia,

who shall meet at the city of ' for the first time,

being called by the President General, as soon as conveniently

may be after his appointment.

" That there shall be a new election of members for the Gene-

ral Council every three years ; and on the death, removal, or

resignation of any member, his place shall be supplied by a new

choice at the next sitting of the Assembly of the Colony he

represented.

" That the Gi'and Council shall meet once in every year, if

they shall think it necessary, and oftener if occasion shall re-

quire, at such time and place as they shall adjourn to at the last

preceding meeting, or as they shall be called to meet at by the

President General, on any emergency.

" That the General Council shall have power to chuse their

own Speaker, and shall hold and exercise all ,the like rights,

liberties, and privileges as are held and exercised by and in the

House of Commons of Great Britain.

" That the President General shall hold his ollice during the

pleasure of the King ; and his assent shall be requisite to all

acts of the Grand Council, and it shall be his oflice and duty to

cause them to be carried into execution.

" That the President General, by and with the advice and

consent of the General Council, hold and exercise all the legis-

lative rights, powers, and authorities, necessary for regulating

and administering all the general police and aftairs of the Colo-

nies, in which Groat Britain and the Colonies, or any of them,

the Colonies in general, or more than one Colony, are in any

manner concerned, as 'well civil and criminal as commercial.

" That the said J'resident General and Grand Council be an

inftrwr dl-liud Irauch of the Ih-il'.-li L"j!sJatare^ wiited and incor-

jwratol irilh It for the aforesaid general purposes, and that any
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of the said general regulations may originate, and be formed

and digested, either in tlie Parliament of Great Britain or in the

said Grand Council, and being prepared, transmitted to the

other for their approbation or dissent ; and that the assent of

both shall be requisite to the validity of all such general acts

or statutes.

" That in time of war, all bills for granting aids to the CroTrn,

prepared by the Grand Council, and approved by the President

General, shall be valid, and passed into a law, without the assent

of the British Parliament." •

Under the circumstances of my whole conduct, as well in

Congress as out of it, I did not apprehend, that I had done any

one act that required a pardon ; and yet, as I was a member of

that Congress, I did apply to the then acting Secretary of the

Commissioners, and tendered myself to comply with the procla-

mation, by taking the oath of allegiance, and thereupon to receive

a pardon *.

* The plan proposed by Mr. Galloway gave the independent faction much

uneasiness, as they saw it contained the great outlines of r.u union with Great

Britain, which were approved of and supported by a considerable majority of the

gentlemen of abilities, fortune, and influence, then in Congress ; from whence

they justly concluded it would be agreeable to the people at large ; and, should

it be adopted as the ground of reconciliation, their scheme of Independence

would be totally frustrated. Mr. Adams and his party left no means in their

power unessayed, to prevail on the members of Congress to reject it on the

second reading, and lest this step should fail of success, to incense the mob in

Philadelphia against it. At this time, the minds of the lower ranks of people in

riiiladelphia, who were governed in a great degree by Mr. Adams, being prepared

for the most violent measures, Mr. Galloway and his friends thought their per-

sonal saffty depended on not renewing the motion. But this did not satisfy the

violent party in Congress. Conscious that it would be approved of by the people

at large, if published, and believing that Mr. Galloway would not venture to make

it public, they procured a majority, who ordered it, with the introductory motion,

to be erased from their Minutes. However, after the Congress broke up, much

pains being taken to traduce the conduct of Mr. Galloway, he thought it neces-

sary, at all events, to vindicate his injured character, by stating the rights of

both countries, upon the ground, and from the arguments he made use of in the

Congrese. -This vindication, with the uniform and indefatigable opposition which

7
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Q. What year was it you tendered yourself?

A. I think it was in January, 1777. I Avas told by Mr.

he gave to every yiolent meosure tending to a separation of the Colonies from

Great Britain, will appear in two pamphlets, entitled, "A candid Examination of

the mutual Claims of Great Britain and the Colonies, with a Plan of Accommo-

dation on constitutional Principles ;" and "A Reply to an Address to the Author

of a Pamphlet, entitled, A candid Examination, occ."

Immediately after this Congress was dissolved, Mr. -Galloway published his

plan in the first mentioned pamphlet, and gave to the people the following account

of his conduct. "In order to prevail on the Congress to desert their scheme of

Independence, and to pursue those measures for restoring the rights of America

which carry with them a prospect of success, he proposed a plan of union between

the two countries, which vioukl have restored to the Colonists the full enjoyment

of their rights. He waited first, with patience, to see whether any scheme of

union would be adopted by the Congress, determined to unite with them in any

measure which might tend to a reconciliation ; but he waited. in vain. And when

he found them bewildered, perpetually changing their ground, taking up princi-

ples one day, and shitting them the nest, Le thought it his duty, however little

the prospect of success, to speak his sentiments with firmness, and to endeavour

to shew to them the true line of their duty. And after proving the necessity of a

SUPREME authority over every mejubf.r of the state, tracing the rights of the Colo-

nies to their origin, and thence shewing the necessity of an-union with the Mother-

State, he introduced the plan with the resolve which precedes it ; but declared,

that he was sensible it was not perfect—that knowing the fundamental principles

of every system must be first settled, he had, to avoid perplexity, contented him-

self with only laying down the great outlines of the union ; and should they be

approved, he had several propositions of lessei' consequence to make, in order to

render the system more complete. The plan being read, and warmly seconded

by several gentlemen of the first abilities, it was referred, for further considera-

tion, by a majority of the Colonies. Upon this promising aspect of things, he

was led to sign the Xon-importation agreement, aUhowjh he had uniformly opposed

it." See page 51, 52. [for Franklin's opinions and criticisms upon this plan,

see Sparks' Franklin, viii. 144.]

The etforts of this gentleman in Congress, to prevail on them to desert their

views of Independence, being frustrated, he returned to the Assembly, where he

was again unanimously elected to the chair; but he refused it, wishing to be on

the floor to speak to measures he had resolved to propose in that body. These

were, that they would take the ground of negotiation, not of arms—to disapprove

of the proceedings in Congress, and to withdraw their Delegation from it. The

first and second he carried on a division IS to 14, and t!ic tbird he lost by a single

vote only, oCwasioueJ by several false and seditious letters, written hjr the disaf-
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. Searle, who Avas the Secretary, tliat he Avould not give a pardon,

because it was not necessary, I desired he would mention it

to Lord Howe. I saw him a few days after, and applied again

for a pardon. I received the same answer, that he Avould not

give me one, because it was not necessary.

Q. Is Mr. Searle a barrister at law, and wliat office was he in ?

A. I don't know whether he is a barrister ; he was acting

Secretary to the Commissioners, and was granting pardons.

Q. Did you ever apply to Lord, Sir William Ilowe, or Mr.

Strachey their Secretary, on that subject?

A. Not personalh'. I thought tAvo applications to the acting

Secretarjr were sufneient.

Q. Are you not of the profession of the law ?

A. I am.

Q. Did you think that Mr. Searle understood the nature of

your proceedings in Congress better than yourself?

A. I imagine he did not ; nor do I think a person being in

an assembly of people (if I understand any thing of the law),

which assembly does an illegal act, and that person does not

assent, but objects to it (as all guilt must originate in the mind),

fected in this couutrj, vliich uufortunately arrived on the morning before the

question was put. Notwithstanding this conduct, the same Assembly unani-

mously appointed him, when absent, again to represent them in the next Con-

gress. On his seeing the minute, he informed the House he would not serve

them in that capacity, and insisted they should erase the appointment ; but such

was their confidence in him, and hope that he would change his resolution, they

could not be prevailed on to do it, although he declared, if it would be decent,

and the minute was in his power, he would erase it himself.

After he found these exertions to stem the torrent of violence in vain, he re-

tired to his seat in Bucks, where he remained several months in the utmost dan-

ger from m-.bs raised by Mr. Adams to hang him at his own door; but these were

suppressed by the vigilance and affection of his friends in the city.

Soon after, the Congress being desirous to gain him over to their measures, and

hoping that his danger might itfduce him to change his conduct, Dr. Franklin

came np to him in Bucks, and earnestly solicited he would join in their measures

;

but, unalterably fiit in his duty to his sovereign, he refused, determined to abide

the consequences, Lowever diaa.strous they might prove to himself and his family.
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is guilty; find I belieye no nutliorities of tlic law will justify a

contrary doctrine,

Q. Have you not signed tlic Association ?

A. I did—and I will give my reasons. I did it on the ground

of preventing tlie Congress from procec:ling to more violent

measures; and even when I consider that Association, if this

was a proper place to reason on tlie signing of it, I think there

was no degree of guilt in it.'^

Q. Does not that Association begin with a declaration, pur-

porting, that the situation of American affairs was unhappy,

and that it was occasioned by a rniiious system of colony ad-

ministration, adopted by the British ^Slinistr}- about the year

1763, evidently calculated for enslaving the Colonies, and with

them the British empire—that acts were passed for depriving

the American subjects of the constitutional trial by jury, ex-

posing their lives to danger by a new and illegal trial: and that

* [The course of himself, airl thoi^c who tliought ^ith liim, in Congress, vrzs

at the time stigmatized, and he, as he states, v-as threatened -with violence. But

lately, in Mr. Flanders' excellent Lives of the Chief Justices (p. fOO, et seg.), it has

been impartially reviewed and fairly pronounced upon. " We think it must be

"admitted," says Mr. Flanders, "that, in the case of Galloway, there was no

"sudden and unexpected change of sides. Before the Congress of 1774, his

"position was well understood. Ho became a member of that body with a well-

" defined purpose. His object, avowed to the Assembly of Pennsylvania, and
" approved by them, was to establL-^h the union between the mother country and

"her colonies on a firm and lastin;; basis. His support of the measures adopted

"by the Congress cannot fairly be deemed inconsistent with the views he then

"entertained. He supported these measures as a means to an end, viz: the

" adoption of his plan of union. Fer s(, and standing alone, he condemned them.

"He openly declared his sentiments to that ctfoct on the floor of Congress. But

"as an expedient, and in the state of public sentiment at the time, he mio-ht

"very properly waive his objections, and lend his name and voice to a line of

"policy which his judgment disapproved. * In truth, the position of

"Galloway was occupied by numbers of pure and honourable men in every

"colony. * * * And we are boiuul to say, thut. considering the aspect of

"affairs, and the }dan it-elf, we can discover, in the one nor the other, neither

"feature nor coniplcxi.'u which should have l\.rl>id a jiatriot to propose such a

"mode of adjustment, nor a patriot to cujiport it."]
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the Quebec Act for the establishment of arbitrary government,

discouraging tlic settlement of the British subjects in that coun-

try, and to dispose the inhabitants to act "with hostility against

the free protestant Colonies, whenever a wicked ministry should

choose to direct them ?

A. I declare to this Committee, I don't know whether that

was in the Association or not.—I have never read the Associa-

tion since I signed it, which was near five years past, I liked it

so little.

Q. Did you read it before you signed it ?

A. I did not read it before I signed it, but it was read to me,

or else I could not have said I disliked it,

Q. You signed it notwithstanding?

A. I did sign it notwithstanding, and I have given my reasons

for it*

Q. Did it not contain an agreement, not to import from Great

Britain into America the goods which might legally have been

imported, or to export those which might legally have been

exported to Great Britain ?

A. The substance of the Association is really out of my mind.

—I suppose it did.—I am ready to answer all questions, although

they may tend to criminate myself, if the Committee approve

of it.

Q. Whether this Associatioii did not contain a resolution that

they would never have any connection with any merchant that

made such importation or exportation ?

A, I don't recollect any one particular article of the Associa-

tion. If the honourable Member will give me the paper in his

* Mail}' of the introductory sentiments contained in the association agreement

were used by the Congress on various other occasions.—Mr. Galloway must have

a very tenacious and extensive memory to have recollected particular sentiments

contained in a particular paper, which he had not read in the course of five years.

If he had recollected that the clauses mentioned in the question were in the

agreement, lie could have no motive to deny it, as he knew the agreement must

prove whether thej were in it or not.
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hand, which I suppose contains the Association, I will inform

him.

Q. Whether that Association was not to conthiue until seve-

ral acts of parliament were repealed ?

A. It is very probable it might.—I don't recollect when the

Association expired, nor the terms upon which it was to expire,

—The x\ssociation is a public paper, and will speak for itself.

Q. Do you think, if such resolutions be contained in the

Association, they are agreeable to law ?

A. I am ready to submit to the decision of the law, with

respect to that matter, whenever I am called upon.

Q. Did you not sit in the Committee of Grievances ?

A. I sat in the Grand Committee that were appoiiited to state

the grievances, and propose the Plan of Accommodation with

Great Britain.—It was one Committee.

Q. Did not that Committee come to a resolution that three

statutes, viz. The Boston Port Bill, the Massachuset's Charter

Bill, and the Act for the Impartial Administration of Justice,

are impolitic, unjust, and cruel, as well as unconstitutional, and

most dangerous and destructive of American rights?

A. They did, I believe, but not with my approbation; because

I thought then, and think still, there were sufficient grounds for

making those acts.

Q. Did you declare that in Congress ?

A. I don't know that I did—I do not recollect.—It is very

possible I might;—for. I did in Congress things equally dis-

agreeable to the violent party—insomuch that they sent me a

halter, with a letter attending it, threatening to put me to death

if I did not make u.-e of it. This much I can say, that there

was no violent measure proposed in it, that I did not oppose,

and to which I did not insist upon leave to cuter my protest,

which was denied me.'-'^

* [In some of the newspapers of tlic Jay are to be fouiul violent and scurrilous

attacks on Mr. Galloway, in some of whicli laii^'u,iy;c ioo obscene for print is

used. (£". g.y Pennnjlvania Packet, May 27, 1777, copying from the Gazelle of





Q. Who sent that halter and its accompaniments ? "Was the

letter si-^aied by Charles Thompson, Peyton Randolph, or by

any other Member of Congress ?

A. I don't know positively who sent it; it was some infamous

assassin, I presume, on the part of the violent part of the Con-

gress.—It was reported that two Members of the Congress were

concerned in it ; but as I don't know the fact, I don't mention

their names.—The letter was anouimous.^^

Q. Do you know that you offered your protest on that ques-

tion of the resolves concerning the three statutes ?

A. I don't remember that particularly, more than in the course

of the other parts of my conduct.

Q. Do you remember that the Congress came to a resolution,

that the dutiful, humble, loyal, and reasonable petitions of their

Assemblies to the Crown for redress have been repeatedly treated

with contempt by his Majesty's ^Ministers of State ?

A. I reall}- don't recollect that they came to such a particular

resolution.—Possibly they might, and it is very probable they

did.—I have not read over the proceedings of Congress since I

left it.

May 14.) Amongst other things, it is said (Faciei, Jannavy 21, 1778): "It is

"owing to your poisonous influence that Gov. Franklin has taken part ngainsthis

"country, and now suffers in disgrace; and that his amiable lady is brought to

"misery and disgrace." The {\ilsity of these charges may be inferred from the

letter of the New Jersey Convention, on which was based the resolution of Con-

gras, June 24, 177G, ordering Gov. Franklin into the custody of Gov. Trumbull;

niid also from the "affectionate" terms in which Gov. Franklin (an extract from

cue of whose letters is given, ante, p. 4) addresses Mr. Galloway.]

* [This halter is thus immortalized in " McFingal:"—

"Did you not, in a vile and shallow way,

" Fright our poor Philadelphian, Gallowa}-,

"Your Congres?, ^hen the loy:il ribald,

" Belied, berated, and bescribbleJ ?

"What ropes a^d halters did you send,

"Terrific emblems of his end,

"Till, loa.-t lieM hang in more than effigy,

" Fled in a fig the trembling reiugee ?"

TrumbulVt Works, ii. 09. Hartford, 1S20.]





66

Q. Did tliey come to a resolution, tliat tlie keeping a standing

army in the colonies in time of peace, without the consent of tlie

Legislature of that colony in which such anny is kept, is against

law ?

A. They did.—I remember it.

Q. Do you think that is agreeable to law ?

A. I have no delicacy in answering that question.—But, as a

lawyer, I would wish to consider questions of law before I give

an opinion.—I ever made it my practice in matters of much less

consequence than the present.

Q. Did you in that question vote before you had considered

it?

A. I imag-ine not.—I must have considered it in the course

of the debate.

Q. Have you forgot what you thought of it at that time

;

whether you then considered it as a true or a false proposition?

A. I reall}' don't recollect what I thought of it ; and I should

wish to consider it before I give my opinion now : was it pro-

posed to me out of this llouse, with a ice for my advice, I should

choose to reconsider it.

Q. AVhether the ten resolutions come to by the Congress in

consequence of a report from the Grand Committee, which they

demanded as their indubitable rights and liberties, are not en-

tered in the journals as being passed yemine Contradicente?

A. I don't recollect, at this time, how they were entered ; but

this I know, that many resolutions of Congress, when they were

published, I found them entered unanimously, and Xeraine Con-

tradicente^ when they were not so as to the individual Members.

—The votes of the Congress were taken by colonies; some of

the colonies were represented by nine Members; some by seven;

some by five; and some by three; and whenever a majority of

the Members, representing a colony, was for a question, it counted

one; although four out of tlic nine wcro expressly against the

question ; and when all the colonics gave a vote in this way in

the affirmative or negative, it was entered unanimously, or Nem.
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Con. ;
altliougli iu some instances tliere were oue-tliird of the

Members present against the question carried.

Q. Do you recollect that these ten resolutions, which were

considered by the Congress as their Bill of rights, met with any

considerable opposition ?

A. They did meet with a very considerable opposition.—The

Committee sat near three weeks. The gentlemen who drew

with me in opposition perplexed the proposals made by the

violent party, as we acted entirely on the defensive ;—so that

they did not come to a single resolution for better than a fort-

night, neither in stating their rights or their grievances.—And,

as well as I can recollect, the Grand Committee did not deter-

mine on those resolutions.—To the best of my knowledge, the

Committee was dissolved before they were voted, and that owing

to the opposition these resolves met with.

Q, Did you give any considerable opposition to those resolu-

tions, on the report, to the whole, or to which of them ?

A. I have not one single one of them in my memory now;

so I cannot say which I opposed, and which not.

Did you oppose any of them on the report ?

A. I did make an opposition to some of them, I make no

doubt, but I can't say which.

Q. Arc you positive you made any opposition to any of them ?

A. If I could see the ten resolutions, I could answer—other-

wise not.

[^IIc holes over the resolutions in a printed hoolc^^

I opposed the 1st and the 4th.—The 2d and od I don't recol-

lect.—The 5th I did not, nor the Gth.—The Tth I don't recollect.

-—The 8th I must have opposed.—I was of a contrary opinion

to the 9th, and believe I opposed it.—As to the 10th, I don't

recollect,

Q. Are they not all great fundamental points concerning the

principles of the British constitution, which you as a la^\'yer

must have frequently considered ?

8
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A. I may have considered them, but I don't know how fre-

quently.

Q. Did not you think yourself particularly called upon at

that time seriously to attend to them ?

A. I did attend to them at that time.

Question repeated.

A. I don't know whether that idea entered into my head at that

time; I don't doubt but that I did think of them ; but I am speak-

ing of very particular transactions that passed five years ago.

Q. Did not the Congress come to a resolution approving the

opposition made by the inhabitants of Massachuset's Bay to the

execution of the late Acts of Parliament ; and that if the same

should be attempted to be carried into execution by force, all

America ought to support them in their opposition?

A. I remember a resolution to that amount.

Q. Did you oppose it ?

A. I did oppose it ; and I recollect particularly, I insisted in

Congress, that they should suffer me to enter my protest.—An-

other Member (Mr. Duane)* joined me in it.—There was a long

debate, and we were over-ruled.—We then insisted, that our

motion for protesting should bo entered on the minutes—with

their negative.—It was refused; on whichMr.Duaue and myself,

* [The Hon. James Duane, of New York, -was one of the committee appointed

by the Congress of 1774 to " state~ihe rights of the colonies," &:c. He "and

Mr. Jay, in conformity with the known wishes of their constituents, were for

Buch measures as should secure the rights of the colonies as then understood,

and yet continue them members of the British Empii-e." During tlie Eevolutiou

he served more or less in Congress, though from time to time withdrawn to

serve in the State Convention or Legislature. His attendance in the convention

prevented his being present in Congress in July, 177C. After the war he was

made mayor of New York, and in 1789, was, without any knowledge on his part

until the nomination was made to the Senate, appointed by General Washington,

Judge of the District^Court of New York. General Washington, in sending him

his commission, addressed him a letter of high, but deserved compliment. lie

resigned in 1794 on account of ill health. See an excellent Memoir of James

Duane, by Hon. Samuel C. Jones, in the 4th vol. of Documentartj History of New

York.-\
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when wc returned from Congress, gave eacli other a certificate,

declaring our opposition to that question, as we thought it a

treasonable one.

Q. Did joii continue to attend Congress after ?

A. I did ;—but proposed to Mr. Duane to leave the Congress,

and consulted my friends out of doors, respecting my personal

safety if I did.—Could I have prevailed on him to have left the

Congress with me, or had not my friends unanimously advised

me that my personal safety would be in danger—I should cer-

tainly have left the Congress.—The city of Philadelphia, on the

arrival of that resolve, was thrown into great confusion and dis-

order—the violent party insisting that it should be carried into

execution ; so that we were in great danger from our opposition,

Q. "Was not there a resolution passed, entered unardmov.shj^

that every person acting uuder the authority of the ]\[assachuset's

charter act ought to be held in detestation and abhorrence by

all good men, and considered as the wicked tools of that despot-

ism which is preparing to destroy those rights which God, nature,

and compact had given to America ?

A. I believe there was such a resolution, but I don't know

how it was entered.

Q. Did you oppose it ?

A. I certainly did.

Q. Was not there a letter of Congress directed to be %vrote

to the people of England ?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you. consent to that letter ?

A. I did not ; nor to the letter to the people of Ireland ; nor

to any of the general letters that were v,Tote at that time.

Q. Did you consider the Congress as a full and free represen-

tation of the colonies - ?

* Whoever forms an opinion of the dispositions of the people in the revolted

colonies, from the measures of the Congress, docs it on very mistaken principles.

The minds of the people in general were peaceable and loyal ; the measures of

the Congress were violent and rebellious. These truths are evident from the
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A. I did not.

Q. TVas jou freely chosen ?

A. I was cliosen a Member of the Assembly of Pennsylvania,

proceedings of the people and the records of the Congress. It appears that the

instructions given by the people who appointed the Congress, were only to seek

for redress of grievances, and an union between the t-wo countries, and not to

take up anus in order to establish independence. They amounted to a prohibition

against all illegal measures, especially such as tended to disunite Great Britain

and America. The Congress, therefore, manifestly, violated their trust, and acted

against the sense of the people -who chose them.

Neither the first or any subsequent Congress can, in any sense of the words,

be deemed " a full and free represeutatiou of the people." In the first, the

Delegates of four Colonies only were appointed by the Assemblies, yiz. those of

Massachusett's, Connecticut, Rhode Island, and Pennsylvania, and these Assem-

blies had no authority from the people to make such appointment. They were

chosen for other purposes, and before a Congress -^vas thought of. And as the

right of delegating their power -was not included in the constitution of their

bodies, they not only acted illegally, but -without the consent of their constituents.

These Delegates, therefore, could not be the representatives of the people of their

respective Colonies. And as to the other Delegates -who were appointed by the

conventions, and in districts by the people ; it is well known in America, that

they -were not the representatives in many districts of one hundredth, and in

none, even in the most zealous and violent, of a tenth part of the legal voters
;

and we have seen in the King's County, where there are not less than 1000 voters,

the Delegate was appointed by one person only.

The other Congresses have not been a more perfect representation of the people

than the first. The people having discovered at length the design and perfidy of

their rulers, and experienced the severest oppression and distress under their

government, as vrell as all the calamities of war, and dreading the conse-

quences of the unnatural alliances with France,-have very generally declined

giving the least aid and countenance to their measures, and withdrawn themselves

from having any share in their appointments ; and being disarmed, have left it

to a few violent men, who with arms in their hands, deprive them of all freedom

of judgment. Hence we have seen, from a preceding part of this examination,

that the Members of the whole rebel state of that Colony, and its Members of

Congress for the year 1778, have been appointed by less than one hundred and

fiftieth part of the people. In the province of New York, at an election of the

Rebel Governor, who was warmly opposed by another candidate, there were not

1000 voters attended, although all in that large Colony had a right to join in the

appointment. And the same aversion to support the present system of independ-

ence, has appeared iu the conduct of the people in all the other Colonies.
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and tlio}^ appointed me a Delegate to tlie Congress.—After the

instance I gave the other night of two men in a large district

meeting together, and one of them appointing the other a Dele-

gate in Congress, and that ^rcmbcr being admitted in Congress,

I can hardly think, that the Congress was a perfect and com-

plete representation of the Colonies.

Q. In what province do you speak of?

A. Of New York.

Q. Who was the person?

A. Mr. Boerum.

Q. Do you know that of your own knowledge ?

A. I was not on the spot, but I had it from almost all the

Delegates of New York.

Q. Were the other Delegates so chosen at New York ?

A. They were not.

Q. Do you know of another instance of such a choice ?

A. There were several instances where very few people met,

compared with the numbers in the district.

Q. Do you speak of the first Congress in which you sat ?

A. I do.

Q. "What counties were there ?

A. In the pro^^nce of New York, as well as I recollect, the

Delegates of the city of New York were appointed by the Con-

vention of the city of New York,—The counties and districts

sent others ; so that, if I don't forget, there were more Members

from that province than any other.

Q. But they had no more than one-vote ?

A. I have answered that before;—they had but one vote.

Q. "Was that the case in the province of Pennsylvania—that

they were not duly elected ?

A. No ;—when the Assembly of Pennsylvania were chosen,

which was near eleven months before the Congress sat, the

people had no idea of a Congress in their minds.

Q. "Was the election a fair one in that Assembly ?
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A. It was received as sucli by the Assembly, and I believe it

was.

Q. Do you know any instance out of the Colony of New

York, of persons elected by a very few ?

A. The Delegates of the ^lassachuset's Bay were chosen much

in the same manner as those of Xcw York ; but it being a great

distance from where I resided, I do not know what number

attended their elections.

Q. Do you know that they were not fairl}' elected, and by

great numbers of people ?

A. I have no knowledge about it, as I never enquired into

it, nor heard of it.

Q. Do you recollect what persons the militia of Pennsylvania,

and other provinces with which you are acquainted, consisted

of in 177i and 1775 ?

A. There was no militia in Pennsylvania in 177-i.—In 1775,

there was ;—they consisted of a very small part of the province

of Pennsylvania.—The people took up arms with great reluc-

tance in that province.—I think the militia of Philadelphia,

where there are near 30,000 souls, never amounted to above 15

or 1600 ; and in the whole count}^ of Bucks, they were short of

that number.—I do not think there was a greater proportion in

the county of Chester ;—thi'cc of the oldest, first settled Colonies

in the province.

Q. Who compelled them to take up arms in 1775 ?

A. The first militia was by a voluntary association, without

any compulsion.

Q. Did any associate to oppose them ?

A. I never heard of any such.

Q. In no part of Pennsylvania ?

A. In none.

Q. Were not such associations formed in several other Colo-

nies ?

A. I believe there were.

Q. Did any associate to oppose them ?
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A. I did not hear so.

Q. Do jou remember, in that year, that any great nnmber of

people \\'ere forcibly disarmed in the province of Peimsylvania?

A. I do not particularly recollect when they begun to disarm;

but many people were disarmed, before the resolve of Congress

by the Convention, and before the declaration of independence.

Q. How long before ?

A. I cannot give a satisfactory answer.

Q. Was it in the year 1775 ?

A. I do not remember Avhethcr in the latter end of 1775 or

beginning of 1776—but I rather think in 1775.

Q. Were they the greater number of the people that ^Yere so

disarmed ?

A. I rather suspect not ;—they did not disarm those -whom

they did not suspect of making use of arms against them.

Q. How many do jon think might have been so disarmed?

A. I really cannot say what proportion ; I know they called

on. me for my arms.

Q. Do j'-ou think that the greatest part of the Pennsylvania

militia were compelled at that time to serve by force ?

A. The militia laws which were made in Pennsylvania, I

think, were made after that time ;—but I do not recollect that

any of the militia, before those laws were made, were compelled

to serve,

Q. Did the}- obey those laws ?

A. Not generall}'.

Q. Quakers excepted, I mean ?

A. There were Quakers, aud a number of other sects, who
scrupled carrying arms.

Q. Do you remember the march of Sir William Howe from

the Elk to Philadelphia—was you with him ?

A. I was.

Q. Is it not almost the whole length of the province in that

direction ?
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A. B}^ no means*.

Q. Is the province more extensive in that direction than from

the Elk to the Delaware ?

A. Not in that straight direction from the Elk to Philadelphia.

Q. Had Sir William Howe a strong army with him ?

A. I should think a very strong army, considering the force

in opposition to him i",—The force in opposition to him at the

battle of Brandy Wine, did not consist of more than 15,000

men, the army and its attendants, including officers and all,

save about 1000 militia, for whom they could not procure arms.

Q. How many of the King's loyal subjects joined the army

of Sir William Howe on that march ?

A. There were many came into the camp, and returned again

to their habitations.—I do not know of any that joined in arms

—not one—nor was there any invitation for that purpose.—By
Sir William Howe's declaration, which is before tliis Committee,

he only requested the people to stay at home.

* Sir William Howe's march was not in a straight direction from the Elk to

Philadelphia, but in a circuit.—He marched first nearly north about sixty miles

to the Schuylkill, then changed his route and passed to Philadelphia, about twenty

miles in a course southward of east.—In the first direction, he might have passed

an hundred miles farther than he did.

f The force of an army does not consist in numbers, so much as in military

appointments and discipline.—The British army had the best appointments, and

was composed of veterans, high-spirited and perfectly disciplined troops.—The

Rebel army was not only very badly appointed, but consisted of new raised undis-

ciplined troops, commanded, for the most part, by officers unskilled in military

knowledge. Hence, we find, that the British troops have met with no difficulty

in defeating them, however advantageously posted, and whenever they have been

attacked. But in the five several complete defeats at Long Island, the AVhitc

Plains, Quibble Town, Brandy Wine, and German Town, there was no pursuit

after victory. This important part of military policy, so essential to final success,

was in every instance omitted ; and the Piebel General, with the assistance of the

Rebel States, sufi"cred to collect ,and recruit his diminished army, to renew the

appointments lost in battle, and to appear again in force in the field. Under a

conduct so erroneous, what avail superior numbers, discipline, or appointments?

Force, however great, is useless unless exerted, and victory is vain unless pur-

feued.
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Q. If the pco[)le were so desirous of repressing the tyranny

of tlie Congress, how came they not to take that opportunity of

rising to protect themselves, and to deliver up the usurping

ijiagist rates?

A. Tlie people in the province of "West New Jersey had been

deserted ;—many of them who had taken an active part, and

been assisting to the General, were obliged, to save their lives,

to fly to New York for protection, and desert their wives, their

families, and property ; and more, it is not natural to think that

people of property will join an army passing as that did, from

the head of Elk to Philadelphia, leave their wives and families,

and their property, liable to be destroyed every moment after

the dej^arture of the army, without some assurance, or without

j^ome protection left -with them—or assurances that the army

would continue with them, or be ready to protect them,

Q. Is that so in all the provinces ?

A. I think it will be so all the world over "-.

* It is truly absurd and ridiculous to expect that the people of a country,

however well affected to us, who are destitute of arms or any of the means of

war, will rise in our favour, without some encouragement offered, or the least

commission or invitation to do so, more especially when that country contains a

militia armed, and an army capable of keeping the field, ready to suppress them.

Bcs^iilcs, the people of Pennsylvania had seen the British army in the possession

of ull^'ew Jersey, and its troops cantoned from New York to Trentown, to cover

it. uti J no measures pursued to embody the loyal in arms, or to make use of the

Kc!l afTected force within it for its defence. They had seen that army, by one-

fiiufth part of its numbers of new raised undisciplined troops, driven out of West

Jvrscy, nnd several thousands of his JIajesty's faithful subjects who had taken a

Uecisivc part in our favour, abandoned to the exasperated resentment of their

rticttiics. They had seen large bodies of loyalists rising in favour of the Crown,

in the several Colonies of Maryland, the Delaware counties, North Carolina, and

New JtTscy, un.-^upported by the British army, and suppressed and severely

puni.'ihed by the Rebels. After these examples, it would certainly have been

extreme folly in the people of rennsyhiinia, circumstanced as they were, to rise

in our favour, without the least assurance of aid or invitation to do so. It is

certainly consistent with all e.vperience and sound policy, when a General enters

n country and wl-hes for the aid of a party in it, to solicit it, and to give them
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Q. So that the loyal people are not able to protect themselves

after the ^vithclra^^•ing of the army ?

A. I don't make that conclusion.—If an army goes into the

country ^nth design to reduce it, and should find it necessary

to make use of the force of that country for its defence, after

the army may leave it to go on other operations; common
policy, and the practice, I believe, of all Generals has been, for

the army to remain in that country until tlie proper measures

are taken, by proper rules and regulations, to embody that

force, by which it may be protected when the army shall leave it.

Q. How long did Sir AVilliam Howe stay at Philadelphia?

A. The British ami}-, part of it, passed into Philadelphia the

26th of September, 1777—and evacuated it, I think, the 18th

of June following.

Q. "Was not that a sufficient time for the loyal people to col-

lect and arm themselves for their own defence, in case Sir ATil-

liam Howe had chosen to quit that place and proceed on other

operations ?

A. During that time, Washington had as much possession of

the country of Pennsylvania, except the lines within which the

British army were contained, as an}' enemy could be in posses-

sion of a country.

Q. Did General Washington not consider himself as in an

enemy's country, and the people as generally disaftected to him?

A. He did so in respect to intelligence, and I believe in re-

spect to procuring provisions;—but Washington knew he could,

and the people without the lines knew he would, in case they

attempted to rise, send a party of liis army to suppress them,

which might be easily done, as the people well affected to

Government were before disarmed.

the necessary support anJ means of doing it. The invitation, in all reason, should

come from the General, not the offer from the people. His interest and duty

demand it ; the danger of their safety forliids it. If the people, labouring under

Buch difiicultics, are to blame for not otfering their aid, how much more so is the

General for not asking it ?
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Q. Was not General Washington defeated at Brandy Wine ?

A. lie was driven off the ground—Adiich I call a defeat.

Q. Did the people take that opportunity to rise, or did they

in very considerable bodies apply to Sir William Ilowe for

arras and support, engaging to embody after that defeat ?

A. In a few days after that defeat, AVashington collected his

army;—the people saw Washington again in some force;—they

saw him march from Philadelphia, round to Goshen, to meet

Sir William HoAve.—That defeat gave them but little oppor-

tunity to rise.

Q. Did they rise, or send a message, promising to rise if pro-

tected ?
"

A. They did not at that time.

Q. Did they, when General Washington retired, and Sir Wil-

liam entered into Philadelphia ?

A. I cannot answer any question which may tend b}" a short

answer to contradict what I have said before, without giving

my reasons for it.

Q. Upon the retreat of Washington, and the entry of Sir

William Howe into Philadelphia, was there any considerable

rising of the people in favour of the King?

^Y^thdrew.

Again called in.

Question repeated?

A. There was not ; after the army went into Philadelphia,

Sir William Howe remained at German Town ; and although

Washington's army retreated, when Sir William Howe crossed

the Schuylkill, up towards Reading, very soon after he returned

nearer to Sir William Howe's army about Skippach *.

* Washington's army, vrben iu the fiekl, vras seldom posted at a distance more

than fifteen miles, often -R-ithin twelve. And during the time the British army

remained in rhiladelphia, his patroles constantly surrounded the British lines.

He was therefore in tlie full possession and command of the country.

[That Mr. Galloway was not alone among the loyalists in the opinion which

he entertained of Gen. Howe's ^efficiency, may be seen from the following





Q. After the battle of Brandywine, had General "Washington

any considerable army in the lower counties?

A. He had not.

Q. "Was there any insurrection in those counties against the

Congress ?

A. There was not;—but those counties very generally, in my

clear opinion, from the head of the Elk, near 200 miles, to the

Capes, would have rose in arms, could Sir William Howe, con-

sistent with his operations, have remained for a month at the

head of the Elk, or about Newcastle, that covered that peninsula,

a reasonable time to admit of their putting themselves into a

regular posture of defence, provided they had assurances of this,

and an invitation and authority from him to do so.

Q. You having said that General Washington had no army

in these counties, was there not a royal naval force in the

river?

A. There was in the rivers ;—but there were militia in those

parts who had arms in their hands, and prevented the rest of

the people from putting their wishes in execution.

Q. Did they apply to Sir William Howe, or Captain Ham-

mond, or Lord Howe, or any other people in authority, for arms

and assistance ?

A. I don't know that they made any personal application to

any of them; but I understood from Mr. Kobinson, a gentleman

of the first weight and influence in those counties, who came in

.to Sir William Howe at New York, that he had mentioned it

either to Sir W^illiam Howe or his Aid du Camp, that he would,

with a few men, land in the Peninsula below, in the course of

extract. Isaac Ogden, New York, 22d Nov. 1778, thus expresses himself to llv.

Gallo-way :

—

"Thus has ended a campaign (if it deserves the appellation) without anything

"capital being done or even attempted. Now, will the historian gain credit,

"who shall relate, that at least 24,000 of the best troops in the world were shut

"up within their lines by 15,000, at ninst, of poor wretches, who were illy paid,

" badly fed, and worse clothed, and scarce, at best, deserved the name of soldiers ?

"But T forbear."]
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the fleet's going round to tlie Cliesapcak, lie would engage to

raise men enougli, if lie Avas provided Avitli arms, to disarm the

Rebels in that peninsula, and meet Sir William Howe at the

head of the Elk.

Q. AYas that, or' any such application, made to Sir "William

Howe when he was in the city of Philadelphia?

A. I don't know there was.

Q. Did Mr. Robinson, when he made that application for join-

ing Sir William Howe towards the Elk, know that Sir William

Howe intended to proceed by the Elk and the Chesapeak ?

A. I believe he did not know it, but 1 know that he had

hoped or suspected it, because we had many conversations

about it ;—he hoped it, because he had his family and property

there.

Q. What was the time of the first of these conversations ?

A. It was about the time that the fleet was got ready at New
York, and I repeatedly conversed with him on the same subject

in Philadelphia—when he often regretted that he was not put

on shore.

Q. Was not Sir William Howe out of the lines at the battle

of Germantown ?

A. Certainly he was ; it was about four miles from the lines

to Sir William Howe's head quarters.

Q. Was there at that time an insurrection in his favour, or

any considerable invitation ?

A. I did not hear of any,

Q. How many inhabitants were there in the city of Philadel-

phia?

A. I have said, about 21,600 when he went into the city.

Q. How many did the Provincial corps, formed by Sir Wil-

liam Howe, during all his residence in Pennsylvania, consist of?

A. I really cannot tell the exact numbers.—There were two

troops of light horse raised, and I forget whether there was not

a third. There were commissions for raising three regiments,

—

how many those regiments contained, I cannot tell.
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Q. How many rank and file -^vere there—were there one

thousand ?

A. I believe not.

Q. "What is the reason wh}- you, ivho are of the law, recollect

so well the militar}' transactions of Sir AYilliani Howe, and

forget so many civ-il and legal matters that fell within your

cognizance while you was a member of the Congress.

A. I have kept a journal, which I can produce to the House,

from the time I left n\y own iVtinily, to the time I entered I'hila-

delphia, in which I can shew the distance, latitude, the wind

and the weather, during the whole voyage round, and other

material transactions.

Q. Why did you not keep a journal or mioutes of your pro-

ceedings in Congress, so far as related to yourself, your own

conduct and opinions ?

A. I have a great manj^ minutes of my proceedings in Con-

gress—short minutes on separate papers—notes that I spoke

from; but I have never looked over those minutes since,—nor

did I think of making a journal, at that time, of the proceedings

of Congress.—I had not that leisure at that time which I had

when I made my other journal.

Q. Was you kindly received, protected, and promoted to an

ofiice of trust and confidence l>y Sir William Howe ?

A. I was received by Sir William Howe with politeness, and

at his request I held the office (after considering it four da3-s) of

Superintendant of the Toliec of Philadelphia.

Q. Have you not lived in intimacy with Sir William Howe,

frequently dining with each other ?

A. I have frequently dined with Sir William Howe, and Sir

William Howe din(.'d once with me; but never was at my house

but once besides, though we lived next door to each other.

Q. Did you make any complaint of incivility or unkindness

from Sir William Howe whi;st you was in America?

A. No—I don't recollect I did, n.-r liave T said that he ever

treated me with unkindness. Tlie business that was done be-
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twcen Sir William IIo"\ve and myself, respecting his military

operations, -was done entirely by Lis Aid du Camps. When I

came into liim from tlie province of Pennsylvania, I had no

personal conversation with him, or not for above eight or ten

minutes, respecting the state of that province, nor ever any

other personal conversation with him respecting the state of the

Colonies in general.

Q. Had you a great property in America before those troubles,

and is it now in your possession, or of your attorney ?

A. I had very considerable property in America before the

troubles. I have said before, my life was attainted by an Act

of Assembly of the Eebcl Slates, and my property confiscated.

My estate was not short of 40,000?. Sterling, on a moderate

valuation, before these troubles begun.

Q. Have you any hopes of recovering it but by the success

of his Majesty's arms ?

A. "Without that co-operation, I have no hopes of recovering

it.

Q. Do you receive any allowance from Government ?

A. I do—but a ver}- small pittance, compared "s^-ith what I

have sacrificed for Government.

Q. Is it for life, or duiing pleasure ?

A. I know not, for I never looked or enquired into the ap-

pointment.

Q. {hy Lord Jluir--) Don't you remember coming to Lord

Howe's quarters in Philadelphia a short time before the town

was evacuated, to ask his ad^^ce, how it would be best for you

to proceed on that occasion ?

A. I do.

Q. Did not Lord Howe recommend your staying in Philadel-

phia, if you should find it could be done with safety ?

A. He did.

Q. Did not yon then profess, that gTcat attention had been

she\\7i by Lord Howe and General Howe to your person and

services antecedent to that period ?
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A. I don't recollect it. Something might drop from me to

Lord Howe, respecting liis confidence, and his attention to my
family ; but as to any attention to my services paid by his Lord-

ship's honourable Brother, I don't recollect that anything passed

from me with respect to that, and I am inclined to think that

nothing did
;
because the services that I performed, I thought,

deserved as much as I received, and more ".

* "While others, from very loiv circumstances, were amassing immense fortunes

under the General, Mr. Galloway, fur all his extensive and very important ser-

vices, -was allowed only at the rate of 200/. per annuvi for the first year, and for

the other six months at the rate of C65/. So that all he ever received from the

General amounted to the small sum of 537/. 10s. paid out of the public purse

;

and as the receipt of this sum has been mentioned to invalidate his credit, it is

but just that we should give a brief account of the services he performed for it.

While he remained at New-York, he was assiduous in procuring intelligence of the

state of the Middle Colonies, the rebel force, and of the water-guard in the river

Delaware, &c. AVhen at Philadelphia, he accepted the offices of Superintendant

of the Police, of the Port, and of the prohibited Articles— offices which, being

founded entirely on new principles, and being of the first importance to the in-

habitants, as well as the British service, required a great diversity of attention

and incessant application. He also superintended the avenues of the British lines,

appointing persons acquainted with the people passing them, -whose report he

received every evening. On him the General, in a great measure, relied for in-

telligence. His diffusive knowledge of the Middle Colonies, his influence and

popularity, enabled him to procure the best. He was applied to and consulted

on business in almost all the general and different departments of the army : by

the Quarter-Master-General, to procure guides and horses for the army ; by the

Commissary-General of Provisions, to procure magazines of forage ; by the Chief

Engineer, to furnish workmen for the lines ; and by Lord Cornwallis, to stop out

the water on Blakeley's and the Province Islands—a work, which was thouo-ht at

first impracticable in any reasonable time, and which he performed in six days,

and without which it was impossible to erect the batteries against Mud-Island

fort. He offered to raise a regiment of American light-horse, but received a

•warrant for raising only a troop. These, in a short time, he had perfectly dis-

ciplined fit for action. He also embodied eighty refugees from the county he

lived in, who served the Crown as volunteers, receiving neither pay nor clothing.

Having obtained leave to operate with tl.^-sc two corps, he kept them constantly

executing plans formed by himself. Knowing that Washington's army was in

great distress for want of clothing. nnJ that he had seized all the cloth in Bucks

county, which was making up for his army at Newtown, avillage distant near thirty
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Q. Was not groat attention paid to your distressed situation

sub.se(|ucnt to tiic time that has been named, until Lord Ilowe

left America ?'^'

A. Just before the city, of Philadclpbia was evacuated, I re-

ceived from Sir William Ilowe's Secretary twenty sliillings a

day, allowed me from the time I came in to Sir William Howe
to that time, as I understood, out of the public money.

ruiles from the Eritisli lines, lie sent out twenty-four of this troop, aud fourteea

of the volunteers, to take it. This they pci-furmed in less than 24 hours; and,

after having stormed two rebel posts, killed eight men, taken a major aud several

other ofScers and prisoners, making in the whole thirty-two, they returned with

the cloth. He next meditated an expedition against Bristol with forty horse and

fifty volunteers ; but receiving intelligence, that upwards of two hundred rebels

had taken post about four miles from the road to that village, he ordered Cajit,

Iloveden, who commanded the party, to attack them, if he found them there ; if

not, to proceed on to Bristol. This was performed with the utmost gallantry;

the rebels were defeated and dispersed, twenty-three killed, and eight taken

prisoners. He also laid a plan for the seizing the rebel Governor Livingston, his

Council and Assembly, sitting at Trentown. His intelligence was so good, and

Lis scheme so well concerted, that there could be no doubt of success ; but he

was not permitted to carry this design into execution. In short, this troop and

company were continually operating during the winter and spring, under his

direction, in a variety of excursions, in which they took near two hundred prison-

ers, and scoured all that part of the country, between Philadelphia'and Trentown,

of the disaffected to Government. After this short narration of a part only of

Mr. Galloway's services, the world will determine on which side the obligation

lies between the General and that Gentleman. ["Seizing Gov. Livingston" was

a much desired object. In a letter from Isaac Ogdcn to Mr. Galloway, dated

Kew York, Feb. 6, 1779, I find an account of "a promising manoeuvre" for that

purpose. It fiiiled, chiefly because *'sonie of the [British] soldiers went to the

"house of one V/oodruft" and began plundering. This gave the alarm."]

* [Some of the other loyalists fared no better than Mr. Galloway, as appears

by the following extract from a letter to him in London, from Daniel Coxe, one

of His Majesty's Council for New Jersey:

—

"New Yoric, Dec. 17, 1778.

"I have nothing more to add as to our own private matters here, but what,

" as I hinted before. Col. Balfour will inform you of, unless an order from Sir

" Henry to pay us each £50 sterling a-piece, ' in consideration of ovr distresses hj

"/lavi/iu been oUijcd to pj from our islates and property,'' a pittance as pitiful as

"the manner of the consideration expressed."]

10
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Q. Whether, on jour apprehensions of the consequences tliat

might happen to ^'ou, in case yoii slioiild he made prisoner on

your passage to Eughand, Lord Howe did not offer you and your

family a passage in his ship ?

A. He did, and I thanked his Lordship for it, and so I do

now.

Q. If on the prospect, at that time, of your return to Eng-

land before Lord Howe, j-ou did not request his Lordship's in-

terposition with Government, to obtain some provision for your

future support, in reward for your past services, and compensa-

tion for the loss of property you had thereby sustained ?

A. I don't recollect any prospect of my returning to England

before Lord Howe. If I recollect right. Lord Howe would

naturally return before me. I don't recollect that I made a

positive request to Lord Howe to intercede with Government,

I know that a conversation passed between us on the subject a

few days before his Lordship came away. Whether I interceded

with his Lordship or not, I can't now recollect; but his Lordship

gave me to understand, that he should have it little in his power

to do me any services. I believe very sincerelj', his Lordship

was disposed to do it.

Q. Did not Lord Howe, in answer to your application, or in

conversation about your returning to England, advise you to

express a disregard for Gen. Howe and Lord Howe, as the best

plea fo]- obtaining lavour from the American minister ?

A. I believe his Lordship did intimate, that he should have

no interest, when he came home, with the American minister;

but I sincerely declare, that I don't recollect that he spoke to

me in the positive way the question supposes.

Q. Did you not apply, before you left Philadelphia, for a flag

of truce, for the purpose of your making your peace with the

rebels ?

A. I did not. "When I made the application to Sir Henry

Clinton, Col. Innys, through whom I made it, can prove, at any

time, that it was my firm resolution not to apply for a flag of
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a flag of truce from Sir Ucury Clinton. I told him, I had not.

I did not care, or think it prudent, to tell him what had passed

between Sir Henry Clinton and us, respecting wdiat I had com-

municated to Sir Ilenr}'- Clinton, and what he had said about a

flag of truce, as Col. Innys informed me, what he brought from

Sir Henry Clinton was not to be understood as ofticial.

Q. Did not you finally come away from Philadelphia with

the British army, on the certainty of losing your life if you had

staid, and in hopes of your property being preserved by 3^our

wife's stay in that city ?'-

* [Mr. Gallo-r,"ay married Grace, the daughter of La-nreucc Growden, a justice

of the Supreme Court, speaker of tlie Assembly, &c., and a grauddaughter of

Joseph Growden, also a person of consideration, who held like important public

positions. The estate which she inherited was called " Trcvose," and was

situated in Bucks County. It was, I suppose, "the manor which Gov. Tenn

" promised me in England, and renewed it at large before the Assembly." (Jo-

seph Grou-dcn to David Lloyd, "24lh 3 mo., 1702.") It was so called (says Proud)

in honor of the place in Cornwiill from whence he came. During the Revo-

lution, the mansion-house was sacked by the British, and many valuable papers,

deposited in a small out-building, which also contained the county records,

were destroyed. {Mr. Ilenrij Feninc/ton's JJSS.) Amongst them was Dr. Franklin's

will, and also " eight quire-books, containing drafts of all the letters which he

«' (Franklin), had written whilst in London," (Sj'arks's FranhUn, x. 122), which

he had entrusted to Mr. Galloway for safe-keeping ; and though the patient in-

dustry and great historical learning of >tr. Sparks have given to the world a most

ample biography of tliat celebrated man, yet, such a loss is greatly to be regretted.

" Trevose" was not confiscated, but remained in Mrs. Galloway's family until

sold by her descendants a few years ago. {2Ir. Ftnirijtoii's 3JSS.)

Of Mrs. Galloway, whilst she remained in Philadelphia, I find the following

notices, amongst others, in the letters of Mr. Galloway's correspondents.

J. A. D. to Mr. Galloway, in Loudon.

New York, Dec. 22, 1778.

"The detail of the ravages and the confiscation of your own estate you have

"undoubtedly heard. Mrs. Galloway, I am informed, supports the misfortune

"with amazing fortitude. She enjoys bettor health than has fell to her lot for

"many years before, and has rooms at a widow Morris's, and has some expceta-

" tious, but how well founded I know not, that she will be allowed the income of

"her paternal estate to live on, and that Dr. Bond and his family have proved
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A. I came away from Pbilarlelpliia, knowing that my life

n'Oiild be taken if I staid; but I Lad no expectation of saving

tbat property wbicb I bekl in my own right. Mrs. Galloway's

estate was very considerable, as well as my own; and she staid

under an expectation, from some words in tbo law, that she

might retain her own estate even during my life, and at least

after my death; and for that purpose only she remained behind.

Q. Is she now at Philadelphia ?

A. She is yet there, and informs me she has no expectation

of saving even her own estate.

Q. How long before the army left Philadelphia had you

determined to come away with it ?

" themselves her true friends, and he -was exerting liiuiself to procure the estate

"for her."

John Potts (nho had been Judge of Philadelphia Common Pleas) to Mr.

Galloway, in London.

New York, Dec. 17, 1778,

" The inclosed letter to Miss Galloway vras brought to me by Mrs. Potts, and a

"message from Mrs. Galloway, that she had not the most distant hope remainintj,

" but I am informed they have permitted the dear lady to have twenty cords of

"wood taken off her estate for her own use. * * * -x-

" Be pleased to give my most respectful compliments to Miss Galloway and Col.

"Balfour. It will be impossible to eradicate the deep sense I entertain of his

" last kind, friendly conduct. Your own kindness, did it exceed it ? Everything

"will be done, which Mrs. Galloway will direct. The gentleman I mentioned to

"you [his brother, Samuel Potts] will undertake it, if she chooses."

Mrs. Gallovray was at one time herself compelled to claim the protection of the

authorities against anticipated personal violence.

—

Col. Records, xi. 19G.

In 1791, Mr. Galloway's only child, Elizabeth, who had married a Mr. Wm.

Roberts, visited "Trevose." She afterwards returned to England, and, in a letter

written by her in January, 1811, to a gentleman in Philadelphia, I tind the follow-

ing glimpse of her father's mode of life in London :
*' Few men, in the course of

" a long life, settled more business for others ; and perhaps, seldom any one gave

"so much advice gratis. His morning-room was often crowded with, and sel-

"dom empty of, Americans, who received from him his best services in their

" own atfairs."

The disposition of his paternal estate (as mentioned al^:o in this letter), com-

pletely relieves Mr. Galloway from the imputation " of a cold, calculating nature,"'

preferred by Mr. Flauders. {Chief Justices, 103.)]





77

A. I never had a resoliition or determination to stay, after

tlie notification of its being to ho evacuated. I liad taken too

active a part against the rebels, and knew that I could have no

security if I staid.

Q. Did you not advise every one of your friends, who you

thought could remain in safety with the reljels, to stay in Phila-

delphia—and were not two persons, who followed that advice,

afterwards put to death ?*

* [The reasons, esteemed by the authorities sufficient for the execution of

Carlisle and Roberts, are given by the translator ("an English gentleman, -who

resided in America during that period") of " the Marquis of Chaslellux's Travels,"

in his note (vol. i. p. 283, &c., Dublin, 1787), in -which, "in justice to America,

tie gives the facts, the truth of which will bear inquiry."

There arc reports of their trials in the Pmnsyhania Packet, Nov. 7, 1778, and

also of the rulings of the judges, in 1 Dallas, 39, 42
(
Mliarloii's Ed.). The seventh

Tolume of the I'cnnsi/lvaiiia Archives (pp. 22, et scq.), gives, together -with the

notes of the judges in Carlisle's case, a scries of memorials, signed by numerous

citizens of the highest respectability and patriotism, many of Tvhom -were army

officers, by the Grand Jurj', by several clergymen (amongst •whom was Mr., after-

wards Bishop White), of " beneficiaries," -who certified " that -when Lord Corn-

"wallis, -with an armed force, came a plundering among us, the said .John Roberts

' did use his utmost endeavours to save us from that rapacious hand," of the

jurors and judges who tried the causes, of their families, and other relatives.

"Notwithstanding," says the estimable editor of the Archives, Mr. Hazard,

"notwithstanding the foregoing strong and respectable petitions of judges, juries,

"citizens, &c., the pardon or respite was not granted, and, on the 4th of Novem-

"ber, the penalty of the law was inflicted on both of the unfortunate men."

The loyalists looked upon them as heroic martyrs, and their conduct at the

scaffold, as narrated in the following extracts from letters to j\Ir. Galloway, cer-

tainly exhibits firmness and intrepidity:

—

Isaac Ogden, Counsellor at Law, to Mr. Galloway, in London.

" New York, Nov. 22, 1778.

" You may not, possibly, have heard of the fate of poor Roberts and Carlisle,

"in Philadelphia. They were condemned, I believe, before you left their city.

*• Great interest was made to save their lives. Roberts's wife, with [their] ten

" children, went to Congress. They threw themselves on their knees, and sup-

" plicated for mercy. But in vain I Ilis behaviour at the gallows did honour to

"human nature. He told his audience that his conscience acquitted him of

" guilt ; that he suffered for doing his duty to his Sovereign ; that his blood





A. There -was not a person -u'lio had taken an active part, to

my knowledge, but what I advised to come a^vay with the British

army. As to Roberts and Carhsle, tlic persons to whom I sup-

pose the question alludes, the first never consulted me on the

occasion : he had a very large family, and a large estate, and

many friends more confidential than myself, with whom he ad-

vised, and whose advice he followed. As for Carlisle, I positively

advised him to leave the city, because I knew he would not be

safe. I was sent to by some of the first men in the province,

to know whether I vrould advise them to take the oaths of alle-

giance to the Eebcl States ; aivd I advi.>ed them never to do it,

but at the last extremity and necessity.

Q. Had not the other managers of the police, who you have

said declined following the advice of Sir William Howe to

remain at Philadelphia, reason to apprehend the same violence

if they had staid there ?

A. I think they would have been capable of making a better

interest, and their peace would have been easier made than

•' woulcl one day be reqiiire'I at their liamls ; and tlici», turning; to Lis children,

"charged and exhorted theiii to remember his principles, for -which he died, and

" to adhere to them while they hud breath. This is the substance of his speech

;

" after which he suficred, with the resolution of a Roman."

James Humplireys, Junr. (who had licen the publisher of the rcn?isi/lvania

Ledger, or True Roynl Ga:d(e, during tlic British occupation of Philadelphia),

to Mr. Galloway, in London.

"Nrw Yonic, Nov. 23, 1773.

" By the endorsed papers, you will find that poor lloberts .ind Carlisle have

«' been cruelly and most wantonly «acriticcd. They were walked to the gallows

" behind the cart, with ha'.tcrs round their necks, attended with all the apparatus

"which make such scenes truly horrible, and by a guard of niiliti.a, but with

*'Teryfew spectators. Poor Carlisle, having been very ill during his confine-

"ment, was too weak to s.iy anything; but Mr. Roberts, with the greatest cool-

" ness imaginable, spoke for some time ; and, however the mind shrinks back

" and startles at the relleciion of so ti-agic.al a scene, it is with pleasui-e I can

" inform you, they bot'.i beliave I with the iitnm-t fortitude and composure. .:\fter

"their execution, their bo lies were va^Tor •? t'j be carried away by their friends;

"and Mr. Carlisle's body was buried in I'riv:; la' i;uryin^--ground, attended by

** above four thousand people in procession."]





mine; and yet I have great doubts, wbetljor tlicy did not remain

in the same jeopardy I did, as the groat oLject of tLe rebels, ifi

confiscating estates, was to procure a sum of money, and these

gentlemen were men of considerable fortunes.

Q. Do you know if Mr. Willing, of Philadelphia, had his

pardon from the Congress ?*

* [Questions like tlicse, standing alone, and disconnected, -vs-itli bald replies;

neither queries nor answers giving any clue to the reasons for propounding them,

might possibly lead to un^vorthy suspicions concerning one •whose integrity,

patriotism and public services, have justly commanded the praise and esteem of

his countrymen.

Mr. V/illing, as appears from a tribute to his memory understood to be from

the pen of Mr. Einiiey [RepulUcan Court, IG), was a man, who, "in all the rela-

"tions of private life, and in various stations of high public trust, deserved and

"acquired the devoted alFection of his family and friends, and the universal rc-

*' spect of his fellow-citizens. From 1754 to 1807, he successively held the offices

"of Secretary to the Congress of Delegates at Albany, Mayor of the city of

"Philadelphia, her representative in the General Assembly, President of the

"Provincial Congress, delegate to the Congress of the Confederation, President

" of the first chartered Lank in America, and President of the first Bank of the

"United States. With these public duties, he united the business of an active,

"enterprising, and successful merchant, in which pursuit, for sixty years, his life

"was rich in examples of the inlluence of probity, fidelity, and perseverance

"upon the stability of commercial establishments, and upon that which was his

" distinguished reward upon earth, public consideration and esteem. His pro-

" found adoration of the Great Supreme, and his deep dependence on His mercy,

"in life and in death, gave him, at the close of his protracted years, the humble

"hope of a superior one in heaven."

To such a comprehensive summary of his public and patriotic services, little,

except in illustration or proof, can be added, except, perhaps, to mention, that

Ml". AVilling, who had read law in the Temple, although he pursued the profes-

sion of a merchant, was a Justice of the Supreme Court, and had occupied a

place on that bench for many years before tlie llcvolution, having received his

commission in September, 17G1. As a judge, he was pure and intelligent;

added to which, he possessed an amenity of manner which rendered him popular

•with the bar, and attractive in society. " Mr. Willing," sa^-s John Adams,

"was the most sociable and agreeable man of all" [Vrorhs, ii. 370). Ko doubt

his judicial training had an inlluence in his course in Congress. Schooled to

discriminate between conHicting claims, in which there was oftentimes much

show of right on cither side ; accustomed to apply the great principles of justice
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A. I dou't know.

Q. Did he refuse to take it?

A. I never Leard. Withdrew,

and equity so as to subserve the best interests of society even at the expense of

a present apparent hardship ; tliis upright magisti-ute made a conservative

statesman, and thus "sras slow to yield to impulses, ^\hich, though given by his

own party, wcrfc, or might bo, as he thought, hasty or premature.

As Mr. Williug's remaining in the city gave offence to some of "the furious

Whigs,"' as one of the political parties is called in a newspaper of the day, the

following extracts are, perhaps, proper to bo inserted:—
««Mr. AVilling and his partner, Mr. Morris, had been, from the beginning of

"the war, the agents of the Congress for supplying their naval and military

"stores. Their disaffection to their sovereign, and their rebellious principles,

"were proved by a number of letters, intercepted by your noble brother; and,

"therefore, Mr. Galloway called on Mr. Willing, in Thiladclphia, by your express

"order, to take the oaths of allegiance; and although he refused, yet he found

" so much favor in your sight, as to obtain a coimtermand of that order, and a

"dispensation from taking the oath."

—

A llq^bjto th: Obseruadons of Lieut. -Gen.

Sir William ITowe, kc. By Joseph Galloway, Esq. Philadelphia. Reprinted by

Enoch Story, 1787, 95, 96.

" At a critical period of the Revolutionary AVar, when there was great danger

"of the dissolution of the American army for want of provisions to keep it

" together, a number of patriotic gentlemen (in Philadelphia) gave their bonds to

" the amount of about two hundred and sixty thousand pounds, payable in gold

" and silver, for procuring them. The provisions were procured. The two highest

"subscriptions were those of Fiobert Morris for £10,000, and Blair McClcnaham

" for £10,000. Thomas Willrag subscribed £5,000."—itoZZ's Sat. Mar/. (1821),

i. 455.

"Mr. Willing, and his associate in commerce, Robert Morris, as well as his

1 Lest, by anj' chance, this book might hereafter full into the hands of some

ungenerous person, who would be disposed to distort this phrase, the extract is

here given. It will be seen that it is from a prominent Whig journal, and from

a Whig pen.

"IV. The rrniofs Wiiigs injure the cause of liberty as much by their violence

"as the timid Whigs do by their fears. They think the destruction of Howe's
" army of less coriseijuence than the ditectiou and punishment of the most in-

" significant Tory. They think the common forms of justice should be suspended

"towards a Tory criminal, and that a man who only .'peaks against our common
"defence, should be tomahawked, scalped, and roasted alive. Lastly, they are

"all coward:;:, and skidk un<lcr cover of an oriicc, or a sickly family, when they

"are called to oppose the enemy in the field. Woe to that t^tatc or community

"that is governed by this class of men."

—

I'cnntylrania Packet, March 18, 1777.
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" [conuexiou], Mr. Clymcr, were all members of tlie Cougress of 177G. To the

*• great credit and well-known patriotism of the house of 'Willing and Morris,

*' the country owed its extrication from those trying pecuniary embarrassments

" so familiar to the readers of our Kevoiutionary history. The character of Jlr.

" 'Willing was in many respects not unhide that of AVashingtou, and, in the dis-

"cretion of his conduct, the fidelity of his professions, and the great influence,

*' both public and private, which belonged to him, the destined leader [Washing-

"ton], was certain to find the elements of an affinity by which they would be

"united in the closest manner."

—

Republican Court, 2-35.

lie died January 19, 1821, aged eighty-nine years and thirty days.

One other matter deserves a brief notice. The proceedings of Congress iu

regard to the Declaration of Independence is a point in our history not so gene-

rally understood as it should be. This is, in a great measm-c, owing to the

manner in which the Journal was printed, but also, in part, to the fact that the

various statements, made after the lapse of years more or less, do not coincide iu

all their details, an example of which has been heretofore noted [ante, 7). The

facts, so far as necessary for the purposes of this note, seem to have been, that

on the 1st of July a majority of the Pennsylvania delegates voted against the

Resolution; that subsequently one of them changed his views; so that when the

final vote was taken, Pennsylvania was in favor of Independence. On the 4th

July, the Declaration was signed by Hancock as President, and Thompson as

Secretary, by order of Congress. On the 19th it was ordered to be engrossed, and

on the 2d of August it was so presented for the signature of the members who

were then in Congress, some of whom had not been delegates in July. On July

20, the Convention of Pennsylvania, which had been convened for the purpose of

forming a constitution, elected delegates, who affixed their names to the Declara-

tion, though one at least, Piobert Morris, had voted against it. The reasons,

which, as far as I can gather, iutlucnced those of the Pennsylvania delegates who

voted in the negative, appear to have been twofold: 1st, they thought such a

course most iu accordance with the wishes of a majority of their constituents

;

•2d, they esteemed the measure premature and impolitic at that time, as likely

(and so it proved) to alienate many warm friends of American rights, whose in-

fluence was of great consequence, but who were not as yet prepared to close the

door to all negotiations.

That the first reason had more or less foundation in fact may be seen, I think,

from the instructions given by the Assembly to the delegates. Not only were

those to Mr. Galloway and his colleagues [ante, -42), renewed, but in 1775

(Nov. 9) the following sentence was added :

—

"Though the oppressive measures of the British Parliament and administra-

" tion have compelled us to resist their violence by force of arms, yet wc strictly

"enjoin you that you, iu lichalf of this Colony, di'^^ent from and \ittcrly reject

" any propositions, should such be made, that may cause or lead to a separation

11
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"from the mother country, or a change of the form of this govcrnmcnf^

{American Archives, 4t3i series, \i. 518). Language more explicit could not Trell

have been used.

Thus rested the instructions until Friday, June 14, 177C, -when the patriotic

party succeeded in obtaining a removal of the restrictions, and the Assembly

thus addressed the delegates:

—

"Our restrictions did not arise from any diffidence of your ability, prudence,

" or integrity, but from an earnest desire to serve the good people of Pennsyl-

" vania vrith fidelity, in times so full of alarming dangers and perplexing diffi-

" culties. The situation of public affairs is since so greatly altered, that -r-c now

"think ourselves justifiable in removing tlie restrictions laid upon you by tliose

" instructions." And then, after recapitulating some of the acts of the Parlia-

ment and the King, ANhich "extinguished" their "hopes of a reconciliation," and

after investing the delegates with necessary powers to " form further compacts

between the United Colonies," kc, the instructions thus conclude:

—

"The happiness of these Colonics has, during the whole course of this fatal

"controversy, been our first wish; their reconciliation with Great Britain our

"next. Ardently have we prayed for the accomplishment of both. But if we

" must renounce the one or the other, we humbly trust in the mercies of the

" Supreme Governor of the Uuiversc, that we shall not stand condemned before

" His Throne, if our choice is determined by that overruling law of self-preserva-

" tion which his Divine wisdom has thought fit to implant in the hearts of his

" creatures" {Ain. Arch., cit. sup. 802, S'jO, 755). The unwillingness to sepa-

rate, if by any possibility avoidable, shown by the Assembly even when "al^

"hopes of a reconciliation were extinguished," coupled with the well-known

wishes of a large part, if not a majurity, of the people of Pennsylvania, no doubt

operated on the minds of the dclcg:'.tcs.

As to the second reason, Robert Morris thus expresses himself in a letter to

Col. Joseph Ptced, under date of July "0, 1770: "I have uniformly voted against

" and opposed the Declaration of Independence, because, in my poor opinion, it

" was an improper time, and will neither promote the interest nor redound to

"the honor of America; for it has caused division when we wanted union, and

"will be ascribed to very ditlcrent priucii'les than those which ought to give rise

"to such an important measure" (American Archives, 5th scries, i. 4G8).
^

Another passage in tliis letter may be quoted as bearing on the first of the

above reasons : " I am not for making any sacrifice of dignity ; but still I would

"hear them [the ^.riti^•h Commissioners] if possible; because if they can ofl'er

"peace on admis^^ible terms, I believe the great majority of America would still

' be for accepting it."

That ]Mr. AVilling him-clf early di?ccr:;cd the probfible necessity of a declara-

tion, ami was, nltlicii-.-li ho vnlod the negative, prepared to give, as he did, liis

best energies to its support wlicu adopted, is shown by his course both in and out
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of Congress, and especially by his language in the debate which occurred many

months before that on Independence, on Mr. Lee's motion "that the ministerial

" or parliamentary posts may be stopped," &c.

" Willing looks upon this to be one of the offensive measures which arc im-

" proper at this time. It v^-ill be time enough to throw this aside, when the

•" time comes that we shall throw everything aside ; at present we don't know

" but there may be a negotiation" (J. Adams, ii. 4G6).]
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